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REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2017




Investment Objective

The investment objective of Strategic Equity Capital plc (“the Company”) is to achieve absolute returns (i.e. growth in
the value of investments) rather than relative returns (i.e. attempting to outperform selected indices) over a medium-

term period, principally through capital growth.

The Company’s investment policy can be found on page 14.

Investment Manager’s Strategy

The strategy of GVQ Investment Management Limited (“GVQIM” or the “Investment Manager”) is to invest in publicly
quoted companies which will increase their value through strategic, operational or management change. GVQIM
follows a practice of constructive corporate engagement and aims to work with management teams in order to

enhance shareholder value.

A more detailed explanation can be found in the Investment Manager’s Report on page 5.

Shareholder Information

Financial calendar

Company’s year-end 30 June
Annual results announced September
Annual General Meeting November
Company’s half-year 31 December
Half yearly results announced February

Share price

The Company’s Ordinary shares are premium listed on the main market
of the London Stock Exchange. The mid-market price is quoted daily in
the Financial Times under ‘Investment Companies’.

Share dealing
Shares can be traded through your usual stockbroker.

Share register enquiries

The register for the Ordinary shares is maintained by Computershare
Investor Services plc (“Registrar”). In the event of queries regarding your
holding, please contact the Registrar, on 0370 707 1285. Changes of
name and/or address must be notified in writing to the Registrar, whose
address is shown on page 60.

NAV
The Company’s net asset value is announced daily to the London Stock
Exchange.

Website
Further information on the Company can be accessed via the
Company’s website www.strategicequitycapital.com.
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At At
30 June 30 June
2017 2016 % change
Capital return
Net asset value (“NAV”) per Ordinary share’ 256.00p 198.06p 29.3%
Ordinary share price (mid-market) 223.50p 178.00p 25.6%
Discount? of Ordinary share price to NAV (12.7)% (10.1)%
Average (discount)/premium? of Ordinary share price to NAV for the year (11.0)% 1.6%
Total assets (£'000) 179,176 138,816 29.1%
Equity Shareholders’ funds (£’000) 176,344 138,361 27.5%
Ordinary shares in issue with voting rights 68,883,472 69,858,891 (1.4)%
Year ended Year ended
30 June 30 June
2017 2016
Performance
Total return for the year* 29.6% 8.7%
Ongoing charges® 1.25% 1.40%
Ongoing charges® (including performance fee) 2.41% 1.40%
Revenue return per Ordinary share 1.31p 0.44p
Dividend yield® 0.3% 0.4%
Proposed final dividend for the year 0.78p 0.78p
Year’s Highs/Lows High Low
NAV per Ordinary share 259.65p 194.49p
Ordinary share price 227.00p 169.50p

" Net asset value or NAV. The value of total assets less current liabilities. The net asset value divided by the number of shares in

issue produces the net asset value per share.

2 Discount. The amount by which the Ordinary share price is lower than the net asset value per Ordinary share. The discount is

normally expressed as a percentage of the net asset value per share.

3 Premium. The amount by which the Ordinary share price exceeds the net asset value per Ordinary share. The premium is

normally expressed as a percentage of the net asset value per share.

4 Total return. Total return is the increase/(decrease) in NAV per share plus the dividends paid, which are assumed to be reinvested

at the time the share price is quoted ex-dividend.

5 Ongoing charges. Ratio of expenses as a percentage of average daily shareholders’ funds calculated as per the Association of

Investment Companies industry standard method.

6 Dividend yield. The proposed annual dividend expressed as a percentage of the share price.



Directors

The Directors in office at the date of this report, all of whom are non-executive, were as follows:

Richard Hills (Chairman) — Independent Director
Mr Hills has substantial investment trust board experience

and is currently on the boards of JPMorgan Income & Capital
Trust plc and Henderson International Income Trust plc and is
chairman of SQN Secured Income Fund plc. Mr Hills was
appointed to the Board on 5 March 2014.

Sir Clive Thompson (Deputy Chairman) —

Non-independent Director

Sir Clive Thompson served as chairman of Rentokil Initial plc
between 2002 and 2004, having been chief executive for 20
years to 2002. He is a former president of the CBI, member of
the Committee on Corporate Governance and deputy chairman
of the Financial Reporting Council. Sir Clive is also a former
director of J Sainsbury plc, Wellcome plc, Seeboard plc,
Caradon plc and BAT Industries plc. He is deemed
non-independent by virtue of his position on the Industry
Advisory Panel (“IAP”) of the Investment Manager. Sir Clive was
appointed to the Board on 1 July 2005.

William Barlow — Independent Director

Mr Barlow is currently chief executive officer of Majedie
Investments PLC, having been a director since 1999. He is a
non-executive director of Majedie Asset Management Limited
and was previously chief operating officer at Javelin Capital
LLP. Mr Barlow joined Skandia Asset Management Limited as
an equity portfolio manager in 1991 and was managing director
of DNB Nor Asset Management (UK) Limited. He is also a
Trustee of Racing Welfare. Mr Barlow was appointed to the
Board on 1 February 2016.

Josephine Dixon - Independent Director

Miss Dixon, a Chartered Accountant, has a career that spans a
number of financial and commercial roles in a variety of sectors
from financial services to football. She has substantial
investment trust board experience and is currently on the
boards of BB Healthcare Trust PLC, F&C Global Smaller
Companies PLC, Standard Life Equity Income Trust plc,
JPMorgan European Investment Trust plc and Ventus VCT
PLC. Miss Dixon was appointed to the Board on 14 July 2014.

Richard Locke — Independent Director

Mr Locke is Vice Chairman of Fenchurch Advisory Partners, an
independent corporate finance advisory firm that specialises in
the financial services sector. Previously he was a partner of
Cazenove & Co. and then a director at its successor firm,
JPMorgan Cazenove. Mr Locke was appointed to the Board on
10 February 2015.
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The Strategic Report has been prepared in accordance with Section 414A of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”). Its purpose is to
inform members of the Company and help them to assess how the Directors have performed their legal duties under Section 172

of the Act to promote the success of the Company.

Chairman’s Statement

Introduction

| am pleased to report that the Company made good progress
in the year to 30 June 2017, delivering very strong growth in
both share price and net asset value (“NAV”).

The Investment Manager’s long standing approach in applying
private equity investment techniques to public markets and
focusing on a concentrated portfolio of high quality smaller
companies continues to deliver positive performance. Further
details on the Company’s portfolio are included in the
Investment Manager’s Report on pages 5 to 11.

Performance

As at 30 June 2017, the Company had net assets of £176.3m
(256.00 pence per share). This represented an increase of
29.3% in the Company’s NAV per share over the period. On a
total return basis, the Company’s NAV per share increased by
29.6%, which was ahead of the FTSE Small Cap ex Investment
Trusts Total Return Index (“FTSE Small Cap Index”) which
increased by 28.4%. The share price total return during the year
was 26.1%.

The Company has delivered a NAV total return per share of
49.0% over the past three years, exceeding the 34.1% total
return from the FTSE Small Cap Index by 14.9%. The five year
NAV total return per share growth of 162.5% has exceeded the
return from the Index by 29.6%. Notably, growth in the
Company’s NAV has been delivered without the use of gearing
and with relatively low volatility.

Discount Management

The average discount to NAV at which the Company’s shares
have traded over the past 12 months was 11.0%. This masks
volatility in the share ratings of both the Company and the
broader UK Smaller Company investment trust sector as a
whole. At the start of the financial year, the discount of 10.1%
narrowed sharply before widening back to 11.4% as reported
in the Company’s Interim Accounts for the period to

31 December 2016. Following the change in lead portfolio
manager announced in early February, the discount again
widened, but has since settled at the level of the peer group
average and the Company’s shares ended the period trading
at a discount of 12.7%.

Over the period, the Board has made use of the power granted
by shareholders to buy back its shares. The Company has
bought back a total of 975,419 Ordinary shares for an
aggregate consideration of £2.1 million.

The Board continues to monitor closely the discount to NAV at
which the Company’s shares trade. Notwithstanding that the

average discount to NAV over the period exceeded 10%, the
Board does not believe that the reintroduction of the tender
offer is the best way forward, perceiving it to be a blunt tool
which is unlikely to have a long term impact on the Company’s
share rating. Nevertheless, the Board will listen to the views
expressed by the Company’s shareholders as a whole in
formulating its policy in this area. The Board will continue to
use share buy-backs in normal market conditions, believing, as
it does, that the ability to buy the Company’s portfolio at these
discount levels represents an excellent investment opportunity.

Investment Manager’s Fees

The Board has entered into discussions with the Investment
Manager on the level of fees payable.

Dividend

The Directors continue to expect that returns for shareholders
will derive primarily from the capital appreciation of the
Company’s shares rather than from their dividends. However, in
order to qualify as an investment trust, no more than 15% of
the income which the Company derives from its investments
can be retained in any financial year. Accordingly, the Board is
proposing an unchanged final dividend of 0.78p per Ordinary
Share for the year ending 30 June 2017 (0.78p in 2016),
payable on 15 November 2017 to shareholders on the register
as at 13 October 2017.

Development of the Company

The Board is delighted that your Company has grown its NAV per
share by 29.3% over the past 12 months. This growth is a tribute
to those who have worked hard to produce strong returns in the
period. Jeff Harris and Adam Khanbhai are an excellent team,
supported by the infrastructure of GVQ Investment Management.
They are part of a well-resourced and highly competent group of
investment professionals who should be able to maintain the
current momentum of the Company into the future.

The Board

Your Board is both cohesive and collegiate and we are
enthusiastic about the prospects for the Company. The
composition of the Board did not change throughout the year.
Although Sir Clive Thompson had indicated that he would step
down at the 2017 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) he was
asked by the Board to consider staying on for one more year.
We all greatly appreciate Sir Clive’s clear thinking and sound
judgement. | am pleased to say that we shall indeed enjoy the
benefit of Sir Clive’s wise counsel for a further 12 months until
the 2018 AGM. In the spring of next year we shall begin a
recruitment process for Sir Clive’s replacement.
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Gearing and Cash Management

The Company has maintained its policy of operating without a
banking loan facility. This policy is periodically reviewed by the
Board in conjunction with the Investment Manager.

The Board, together with the Investment Manager, has a
conservative approach to gearing because of the concentrated
nature of the portfolio. No gearing has been in place at any
point during the period. Cash balances are generally
maintained to take advantage of suitable investment
opportunities as they arise.

Annual General Meeting

We hope that as many shareholders as possible will attend the
Company’s Annual General Meeting, which will be held at the
offices of Canaccord Genuity Limited, 88 Wood Street, London
EC2V 7QR on 8 November 2017. This will be an opportunity to
meet the Board and to receive a presentation from the
Company’s Investment Manager.

Outlook

The Board shares the Investment Manager’s belief in the quality
of the constituents of the portfolio.

With the Investment Manager’s detailed private equity derived
research process and long term investment horizon, we believe
that the Company is well placed to deliver positive future
returns.

The Board would like to thank you for your continued support.

Richard Hills
Chairman
14 September 2017
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Investment Strategy

Our strategy is to invest in publicly quoted companies which we
believe will increase their value through strategic, operational or
management change. We follow a practice of constructive
corporate engagement and aim to work with management
teams in order to enhance shareholder value. We aim to build a
consensus with other stakeholders and prefer to work alongside
like-minded co-investors as leaders, followers or supporters. We
try to avoid confrontation with investee companies as we believe
that there is strong evidence that overtly hostile activism
generally produces poor returns for investors.

We are long-term investors and typically aim to hold
companies for the duration of rolling three-year investment
plans that include an entry and exit strategy and a clearly
identified route to value creation. The duration of these plans
can be shortened by transactional activity or lengthened by
adverse economic conditions. Before investing we undertake
an extensive due diligence process, assessing market
conditions, management and stakeholders. Our investments
are underpinned by valuations, which we derive using private
equity-based techniques. These include a focus on cash flows,
the potential value of the company to trade or financial buyers
and potentially beneficial changes in capital structure over the
investment period.

The typical investee company, at the time of initial investment, is
too small to be considered for inclusion in the FTSE 250 index.
We believe that smaller companies provide the greatest
opportunity for our investment style as they are relatively under-
researched, often have more limited resources, and frequently
can be more attractively valued.

We believe that this approach, if properly executed, has the
potential to generate favourable risk adjusted returns for
shareholders over the long term.

Market Background

The period began not long after the result of the EU
Referendum. The initial market response was more positive
than had been feared. Companies with overseas earnings saw
these benefit from the material depreciation in sterling and
supportive economic data alleviated investors’ concerns.
Earnings progression was positive over the past 12 months
with the share price performance of more cyclically focused
sectors such as construction and materials and industrial
engineering particularly benefiting. The stock market continued
a surge upwards post the US election result with the hope that
President Trump would prove a boon for global growth. The
first half of this calendar year stood by this optimism with
strong PMI data across the globe.

The period drew to a close in a more sober mood. The ‘snap’ UK
General Election appears to have further destabilised the
political picture and the ‘Brexit’ negotiations continue to create
uncertainty. The consumer environment in the UK remains weak
with real wage growth running behind inflation, which has spiked
in part as a result of the depreciation of sterling. Trading
statements from DFS, AO World and Safestyle reflect the
challenging consumer environment.

Performance over the year was strongest at the lower end of the
size spectrum. The FTSE Small Cap Index produced a total
return of 28.4% compared with the FTSE 250 Index of 22.2%
and the FTSE 100 Index of 16.9%. The FTSE AIM All-Share
Index delivered a total return of 38.5% and appears to be
benefiting from continued inflows into IHT relief qualifying
investment funds.

After predominantly seeing outflows for a number of months,
smaller companies funds saw inflows in the first few months of
2017 as measured by the Investment Association fund flow data.
The index has undergone a small re-rating, entering the period
with a low teens median forward price-to-earnings multiple and
modest mid single digit growth expectations.

Mergers and Acquisitions (“M&A”) activity was strong
throughout the year and across the market cap spectrum, with
the likes of ARM Holdings, Sky, Berendsen and Exova among
those being acquired by overseas buyers. The weak position of
sterling relative to history provides a discount to potential
overseas buyers. The NAV of the Company benefited from the
takeover of E2V Technologies by Teledyne at a c.48% premium
in early December. This provided a good case study for
investing in covetable assets. Where public markets often
misvalue companies based on short term factors, an anomaly
can quickly close.

Performance Review

Performance across the portfolio was strong with seven
companies delivering total share returns over 40% and a further
six companies in excess of 20%. Pertinently, only two holdings
delivered a negative share price return, which is pleasing as
capital preservation remains a key focus for the portfolio.

In aggregate, the portfolio saw a modest re-rating from a lower
base post the referendum, supplemented by strong growth in
earnings and cash flow. Operationally, portfolio companies
continued to demonstrate progress and provide confident future
outlook statements.
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Top 5 Contributors to Performance

Valuation at
period end Period attribution

Company £'000 (basis points)
Equiniti 20,130 455
Tribal 14,928 402
E2V Technologies - 391
Clinigen 13,166 359
Servelec 18,467 312

Equiniti was a new investment made in early 2016 at, what we
believe, was a very attractive valuation. It is our view that there
had been concern around the level of gearing following the IPO
at the end of 2015 and that the stock had suffered owing to
negative ‘read-across’ from the specific problems of other
companies in the support services sector. On both of these
issues we had (and continue to have) a different view. Equiniti
ended the year as the largest holding. The business had been
very well invested through private ownership and bore
significantly higher debt levels through the crisis without
needing any equity injection. This is largely due to its resilience
in providing ‘critical but non-core’ services, with average
customer tenure in share registration of over 20 years. It is also
markedly different from other support services companies in
having limited public exposure to multi-billion pound ‘cliff-
edge’ contracts. Despite headwinds of a cut in base rates and
a slower IPO market, the company delivered solid growth in
sales and profit. Total shareholder return of 60% over the year
was supported by a re-rating as the market took account of the
strong nature of the business model and exposure to growth
areas including regulation technology (“RegTech”) and the need
for customers to have cost effective solutions. Towards the end
of the period, Capita sold its share registration administration
division to an international acquirer at a reported 13x EBITDA.
This business has similarities to Equiniti’s Investment Solutions
division which accounts for approximately a third of the group
and implies material valuation upside to the whole group.

Tribal delivered a total shareholder return of 56% over the
year. We have been engaged with the company as it
undertakes a strategy to overcome poor integration and a
high cost base and build on a business with strong positions
in attractive education and learning markets. Initial progress is
encouraging. The company has delivered significant cost
savings, identifying £9m of annualised efficiencies (on full
year sales of ¢.£90m), the balance sheet has net cash and
contract momentum is returning. We undertook further
diligence over the year, visiting company sites and customers
in Australia which reaffirmed our positive view of the
company. The next steps for the business are to continue the

transition towards a purer application software business,
thereby improving the recurring revenue base and operating
margins.

E2V Technologies delivered a total shareholder return of
37% over the year. The shares initially performed strongly
given the significant US$ sales exposure of the group, but fell
following delays in contract awards in space imaging at the
time of interim results in November. Soon after, in early
December an agreed bid from larger US peer Teledyne
Technologies Inc. was announced at an all time high share
price, and a premium of 48% to the prior day closing share
price. The takeover was a positive culmination to an
investment which involved a significant amount of
engagement since first investment in late 2009.

Clinigen recovered from a depressed share price (and rating),
delivering a total shareholder return of 42% over the year.
Concerns over the timing of orders were addressed and the
company reported strong growth in profit and cash flow in its
full year results. The company held a capital markets day
where the newly promoted CEO outlined the long term
opportunities for the enlarged business given the significant
shortage of access to medicines across much of the world. The
acquisition of Link Healthcare in 2015 has provided access to a
wider customer base and increased distribution to healthcare
professionals in Africa, Asia and Australasia. In addition, the
ongoing upgrade in the technology platform should improve
operations and customer interaction.

Servelec delivered a total shareholder return of 33% over the
year. The price initially recovered well from the surprise profit
warning and downgrade in June last year. The shares were
volatile driven by low liquidity and sentiment towards the
timing of public sector spending. At the end of 2016, the
company was awarded a previously delayed contract by
Centrica to remotely operate an offshore gas platform. Full
year results highlighted good order book progression and we
recently increased our holding at a discounted valuation to
historical levels.

Outside of the top five contributors, there was strong
performance from Gooch & Housego delivering a total return
of 59% over the year. It remains a very good quality business
with strong growth, however it has re-rated to a very high
valuation and as a result, the position has been materially
reduced. A new position was initiated in Medica on its IPO in
late March 2017 (see page 7 for further details). Its market
displays positive long term prospects and the shares delivered
a total return of 67%. The position in Tyman was increased in
March 2017 and the shares delivered a total return of 42% over
the year.
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Bottom 5 Contributors to Performance

Valuation at
period end Period attribution

Company £°000 (basis points)
IFG Group 13,429 (56)
Wilmington 10,867 (51)
Volution - 1
Dialight 384 1
Northbridge - 3

After a very strong prior year, IFG Group delivered a negative
total shareholder return of 6%. The company’s SIPP platform
business, James Hay, was impacted by the cut in base rates
in August last year which materially reduced interest income.
In addition, continuing investment to improve back office
functions and service levels has further depressed profits as
highlighted in their full year results. Progress has been
demonstrated in the growth in the average size of customer
and the improving relationships with larger advisers. The
wealth management business Saunderson House continues
to grow strongly and is widening its discretionary
management offering. Both businesses appear to be trading
at a significant discount to precedent transaction multiples.
The position was meaningfully increased after the final results
in March.

Wilmington’s share price has been volatile and delivered a
negative total return of 4% over the year. Good progress in the
risk and compliance divisions has been offset by legacy issues
in financial training and legal businesses. The company
performed in-line with market expectations over the period,
however, the shares have de-rated significantly to what we
view as a material discount to fair value.

The holding in Volution was realised in full a few weeks into
the period.

A small investment was made in Dialight towards the end of
the period.

Northbridge was a small holding throughout the period and
was recently fully exited.

The average cash balance held by the Company was 12.0%
over the period. The approach of the Board and Investment
Manager is one of no gearing and to retain sufficient cash to
enable the ability to participate in liquidity events without being
a forced seller of existing holdings. The ending cash balance
was 7.6% compared with 9.5% at the beginning of the period.

Dealing activity

The level of portfolio activity was higher than in recent years,
driven largely by M&A. Disposals netted £45.5m (excluding
distributions from unquoted investments) representing ¢.29%
of the weighted average NAV. In addition, £0.6m of
distributions were received from unquoted investments and
£42.3m of purchases were made, representing 27% of the
weighted average NAV.

The first part of the period saw significant selling activity leading
to a very high cash balance at the end of September of around
17%. Cash was deployed into existing holdings which were
weaker towards the end of the year but the cash balance was
supplemented following the takeover of E2V. Until the
consideration was paid in late March, the cash plus E2V
(accounting for ¢.9.5% of NAV) was around 20% of NAV. As a
result, there has been significant redeployment of capital in the
second half of the reporting period.

New investments were made in three companies. As detailed in
the Interim Report, an investment was made in Harworth
Group soon after the EU Referendum. The company is one of
the UK'’s largest land and property regeneration companies
across the North of England and the Midlands, owning and
managing over 22,000 acres across 140 sites. We had
performed diligence on the company earlier in the year but the
valuation at the time prevented investment. The price discount
to net asset value (“NAV”) subsequently widened materially to
35% and a seller provided liquidity for the initial £3.6m
investment (with a further £1.0m invested later in the year).
Harworth is modestly geared for a property company and we
believe its regeneration and improvement model has the
potential to generate long term NAV per share growth of
10-12% across the economic cycle.

We participated in the IPO of Medica, a UK market leader in
the provision of outsourced teleradiology services to hospitals.
Medica enables hospital radiology departments to send MR,
CT and X-ray images to an off-site Medica (NHS qualified)
radiologist who can remotely interpret the scan. It has grown
strongly owing to the growth in scanning activity driven by
demographics and healthcare guidelines alongside the
shortage of radiologists in A&E departments. The IPO was
heavily oversubscribed and we received a high allocation
investing £7.3m over the period with the vast majority at the
IPO price. Although higher growth than a typical investment,
we believe the business is very high quality with many long
term structural growth drivers and has the possibility to move
into other therapeutic areas.

A further new £6.2m investment was made in Alliance
Pharma, the AIM listed UK pharmaceutical company. The
company has a mature, diversified portfolio of niche
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prescription and branded over-the-counter (OTC) products built
up over a long period of time. Growth has not been dependent
on research and development and the company has limited
exposure to the economic cycle. Post a large acquisition in
2015, the company has extended the product range and
international footprint providing future opportunity. However,
this also increased debt levels, which we believe has
concerned investors and depressed the rating. The business is
highly cash generative and is forecast to de-gear rapidly. The
high free cash flow yield at investment is very attractive and, in
our view, unreflective of the potential opportunities.

Material investments were made in existing holdings including
Equiniti (£5.6m), IFG (£4.4m) and Servelec (£4.2m). A £3.5m
top-up investment was made in Tyman at the end of February
as the rating screened anomalously low on a growth and cash
flow basis. Earnings have since been upgraded alongside a
slight re-rating but the valuation remains attractive.

The longstanding holding in E2V was fully realised with £15.9m
of cash received following the acquisition by Teledyne. Small
investments in Volution (£1.7m), lomart (£0.6m) and
Northbridge (£0.5m) were sold in full.

The position in Gooch and Housego was materially reduced
by £6.8m throughout the course of the year. The shares
performed very strongly driven by good growth and cash flow
and a significant re-rating. Although the company has rich
intellectual property in photonics and is exposed to growing
markets, we believe the valuation is a material premium in
absolute and relative terms and prices in a high level of
continuing future growth. Other sales of note included Clinigen
(£4.8m) and 4imprint (£3.0m) earlier in the period post the US$
strengthening and Brooks MacDonald (£1.2m).

Portfolio Review

The portfolio remains highly focused with a total of 18 holdings.
The top 10 holdings accounted for 76% of the NAV at the end
of the financial period. 99.2% was invested in quoted
companies. The percentage of the portfolio invested in
unquoted securities fell from 1.2% to 0.8%. 7.6% of the NAV
was invested in cash at the period end.

There have been changes in sector weightings with NAV
exposure to Electronics reducing from 15.1% to 1.4%, following
the realisation of E2V and the reduced investment in Gooch &
Housego. Healthcare has increased from 9.5% to 17.6% as a
result of new investments in Medica and Alliance Pharma and
there is 3.1% exposure to property through Harworth.

Exposure to the UK has increased through new investments in
Medica and Alliance Pharma and the increased weights in
Equiniti and IFG Group, along with the realisation of E2V and
the reduced holding in Gooch and Housego, both of which
have international exposure.

We screen for potential investments based on a long standing
process focusing on ‘four drivers’ of equity returns; growth,
value, corporate activity and de-gearing. We believe this
combines the best aspects of public market and private equity
investing and improves the chance of delivering shareholder
value creation. Our focus is on specific companies as opposed
to a ‘top-down’ overlay. Through the underlying holdings, we
believe that the current portfolio is exposed to multi-year
investment themes including the growth in regulation and
compliance, digital health, non-R&D based pharmaceuticals,
the growth in the pensions and savings market and
infrastructure and building.

Portfolio as at 30 June 2017 — Top 10 Largest Investments

% of % of

invested invested
portfolio at  portfolio at % of
Date of first Cost  Valuation 30 June 30 June net
Company Sector Classification Investment £’000 £’000 2017 2016 assets
Equiniti Group Support Services Mar 2016 13,793 20,130 12.4 6.6 11.4
Servelec Group Software & Computer Services Dec 2013 14,917 18,467 11.3 8.5 10.5
Tribal Group Software & Computer Services Dec 2014 13,661 14,928 9.2 7.4 8.5
IFG Group Financials Apr 2015 11,976 13,429 8.2 7.5 7.6
Clinigen Group Healthcare Jul 2014 7,746 13,166 8.1 10.5 7.5
EMIS Group Software & Computer Services Mar 2014 10,075 11,715 7.2 9.2 6.6
Medica Group Healthcare Mar 2017 7,045 11,372 7.0 - 6.5
Wilmington Group Media Oct 2010 8,981 10,867 6.7 9.5 6.2
Tyman Industrials Apr 2007 5,210 9,911 6.1 4.3 5.6
4imprint Group Support Services Feb 2006 1,868 9,572 5.9 7.7 5.4
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NAV as at 30 June 2017

Sector split by industry

Electronics

1.4%
Consumer
Services PTOperty Unquoted

4. 1% 3.1% | Investments

| 0.8% Software and

Industrials Computer
5.6% Services
Media 271%

6.1% ™~

Net cash
7.6%

Financials
9.8%

Healthcare
17.6%

Support
Services
16.8%

Portfolio Characteristics

Size split by market capitalisation

Unquoted
Investments
0.8%

Net Cash
7.6%

>£500m
31.2%

<£100m 5.6%

£100m - £300m
42.7%

£300m - £500m
12.1%

FTSE Small Cap
ex Investment Trusts

Strategic FTSE Small Cap ex ex resources and
Consensus Median portfolio characteristics Equity Capital Investment Trusts financials
Price/Earnings ratio (FY1) 16.8x 12.5x 12.8x
Dividend yield 2.2% 3.1%" 3.1%*
Price/Book ratio 2.6x 1.5x n/a
Price/Sales ratio 2.0x 0.7x n/a
Price/Cashflow ratio 16.6x n/a n/a
GVQIM Cashflow yieldt 8.3% n/a n/a
Forecast earnings growth (FY1) 14.0% 6.9% 6.3%
Forecast net debt to EBITDA 0.0x 1.4x 1.0x

SOURCE: FACTSET PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS SYSTEM, PEEL HUNT. INDEX STATISTICS INCLUDE LOSS MAKERS. * DIVIDEND YIELD FOR THE INDICES EXCLUDES NON-PAYERS

T GVQIM cASHFLOW YIELD: (12 MONTH FORWARD CASH EBITDA MINUS MAINTENANGCE CAPEX)/(MARKET CAPITALISATION PLUS 12 MONTH FORWARD NET DEBT).

Consistent with previous periods, the portfolio’s aggregate valuation (in terms of the P/E ratio) is higher than the constituents of
the broader FTSE Small Cap Index. However, the portfolio companies enjoy less geared balance sheets and are forecast to grow
earnings much faster. It is worth noting that the relatively high dividend yield of the broader indices reflects the exclusion of

companies which do not pay a dividend.
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Investment Manager’s Report (coniinued)

Unquoted Investments

Over the period, the Company received a capital distribution of
£0.6m from Vintage |. The outstanding commitment relating to
Vintage | is €1,560,000 and its adviser has communicated that
it does not expect to make any further net draw downs.

Outlook

Over recent years, periods of uncertainty have become a
feature in global political and financial systems, but rarely can
there have been as many notable shifts as in the past 12
months, which have been well-trailed. Looking out, many
issues remain: geopolitical tension between the global
superpowers; terrorism; disunity in the UK political system;
with a lack of clarity over the short and long term landscape
and the prevalence of cyber crime to name but a few. In these
situations, it is easy to lose focus. As investors, we continually
consider the impact of events on companies and their
customers, on capital flows and on valuations. Our approach is
to continue to adopt a very disciplined and well-entrenched
approach to investment focusing on:

- High quality business models;
— A cash flow based valuation methodology; and

— Retaining conviction based on companies’ positions in
long term structural growth markets.

The last of these, conviction, is key. Strategic Equity Capital is
a high conviction portfolio. We believe in the virtues of
investing for the long term. That is not to say we aren’t
scrutinous with the existing portfolio. We continually monitor
and actively engage with existing holdings, assessing whether
our detailed core investment theses remains valid. Away from
the portfolio, we continue to meet several new companies
every year. Few meet our strictly defined quality criteria and
fewer still are what we consider investable. It is common that
we follow companies for months and sometimes years before
we feel the time is right to deploy new capital.

A challenge is distilling the abundance of information today.
Our ‘top-down’ view is best informed from our numerous
company interactions and considering how businesses are
trading. As we stand, companies are trading as expected (and
often better) and not seeing any meaningful sign of slowdown
in their end markets. We remain cautious but cerebral.

As ever, there is a great deal of uncertainty to contend with.
The spectre of the vast swathes of US Dollar denominated
debt is coming in to focus again and there is still the longer
term challenge of restricting the impact of ‘tightening’ on the
global economy. In the UK, the household savings ratio is at
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the lowest rate since records began back in 1963, with real
household disposable incomes falling for the third consecutive
quarter. We are consciously avoiding stocks exposed to UK
discretionary spending. The foreign exchange benefit of the
devaluation of sterling from this time last year has largely
played out and may become a slight earnings headwind with
sterling above $1.30 at the time of writing. Hereon in,
companies will need to demonstrate ‘real’ growth.

On the positive side, the global economy is enjoying a fairly
broad based and synchronised upswing continuing the long
and shallow growth cycle. Corporate balance sheets are
improving with companies continuing to deleverage since the
start of 2016. The median aggregate gearing of the Company’s
underlying holdings is 0.0x net debt to EBITDA. Although the
market has re-rated from historic lows, the median small cap
forward price to earnings multiple of around 14x doesn’t feel
stretching. On a relative basis, equities aren’t overtly
expensive. The spread between UK equity dividend and credit
yields is at a multi year low. The first half of 2017 has seen
private equity deal volumes at the highest level since 2007.
The new period has started where it left off with M&A activity
involving Worldpay, Novae, Paysafe and Cape. We believe this
will be a continuing feature and note the recent proclamation
from the Chief Executive of Meggitt, the FTSE 250 aerospace
company, that ‘British companies are probably the most
attractive in the world to take over’. We invest in what we
believe are highly covetable assets with limited impediment to
potential acquisition.

For a long time, we have argued that global flows haven’t
reflected the positive prospects for equities. With recent
reports of investors oversubscribing for ‘century bonds’, the
prospects for permanent capital destruction are real.
Pleasingly, there has been evidence to support our investment
approach. Recent data from Preqgin has showed that Private
Equity ‘dry powder’ (funds available for investment), stood at
$906bn, a new industry record. In addition, 2017 has seen the
return of inflows into the IA UK Smaller Companies sector, with
April seeing the strongest month for inflows since March 2014.

We believe the opportunity set in smaller companies remains
highly attractive. There is growing evidence of a small cap
‘liquidity discount’ where the smaller, less liquid part of the
stock market suffers from lower valuations. The Company
continues to adopt a longer term approach with the ability to
take advantage of transitory pricing anomalies. Furthermore, it
is oft-cited that smaller companies are ‘under-researched’. This
is even more valid further down the smaller company
spectrum. Our ‘sweet-spot’ is genuine smaller companies (sub-
£500m market capitalisation at the time of investment) and
analyst coverage here is lower and could potentially reduce
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post the changes that will be brought about with the
introduction of MiFID Il at the start of 2018. In this environment,
we believe we are well placed with our detailed, multi-stage,
long-focused research process.

In the absence of a ‘black swan’ event, markets tend to climb a
wall of worry. Rather than being ebullient, investors remain
skittish. Our view on fundamental characteristics is that the
combination of growth and cash flow of over 20% is positive
and provides us with assurance over medium term portfolio
returns.

Our favourable outlook is framed by the underlying quality of
the Company’s portfolio of holdings. We are often asked what
we mean when we talk of ‘quality’. We look to take a share of
businesses with genuine intellectual property, providing
products or services that cannot be offered by many others.
This confers on them market leadership or pricing power and
the consequent ability to generate durable returns. The
portfolio gives exposure to companies with leading positions in
structurally growing markets. As such, our outlook over the
medium term is positive. Uncertainty exists today as it has
done over recent history and will undoubtedly exist in future
periods. The constitution of the Company with underlying
holdings of requisite quality at attractive valuations provides us
with confidence over the Company’s long term prospects.

Jeff Harris/Adam Khanbhai
GVQ Investment Management Limited
14 September 2017
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Top 10 Investee Company Review (as at 30 June 2017)

4imprint Group is a leading direct marketer of promotional
products with an international network of companies in North
America and the UK. It processed over one million customised
orders in 2016. We have been involved with the company since
a change of management in 2003. Following the disposal of
Brand Addition, virtually all of the profits of the group are
generated by the fast growing US business. The company has
a significant net cash balance. Funds managed by the
Investment Manager currently hold approximately 3% of the
company’s equity.

Clinigen Group is a speciality pharmaceutical and services
company. It has three business units — Clinical Trial Services,
Unlicensed Medicines and Commercial Medicines. Activities
undertaken by these businesses include: acquiring, licencing
and revitalising hospital-only critical care medicines; and
providing patient access to its own or other pharmaceutical
companies’ products, whether to meet unmet medical needs or
for use in clinical trials. The company has grown rapidly since
its IPO in 2012, both organically and through targeted
acquisitions. In April 2015 it acquired Idis, a peer, for £225m
through a mixture of debt and equity and in September 2015,
acquired Link Healthcare, a specialist pharmaceutical and
medical business focused on the Asia, Africa and Australasia
region. We believe the cash flow characteristics are
underappreciated which should see the company de-gear
rapidly over the next two years. The company has a leading
position in a multi-year growth market. Funds managed by the
Investment Manager hold ¢.3% of the company’s equity.

EMIS Group is a specialist healthcare software and services
provider. It is the UK market leader in the provision of electronic
patient records for GPs, with a 55% market share, and over
80% of total revenues are recurring. It also supplies electronic
patient records to other healthcare organisations including
community pharmacies, community and mental health trusts
and accident & emergency departments. With solutions across
every major healthcare setting, we believe EMIS is uniquely
positioned to benefit from the NHS’s connected care strategy.
During the reporting period, the company announced
additional investment into Patient, an online platform with

18 million unique monthly users to provide high quality
healthcare information and solutions. EMIS is highly cash
generative with a strong balance sheet providing future
opportunity. Funds managed by the Investment Manager
currently hold ¢.4% of the company’s equity.

Equiniti Group is a business services company providing
administration, processing payments services and technology
products typically to FTSE 350 companies and large public
sector organisations. It is one of the three main share
registrars for UK quoted companies. It administers company
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benefits schemes and share savings schemes. It also
provides software and services to help manage the
administration of company and public sector pension funds.
We believe the business has a strong combination of stable,
long-term repeatable non-discretionary corporate services
alongside offering technology based solutions to growing
regulatory requirements. The business was founded with the
buyout of Lloyds TSB Share Registrars by private equity
house Advent International in 2007. Following the buyout the
company added to its product and service capability through
a number of targeted acquisitions. The company IPO’d in
October 2015. Whilst it was well invested under private equity
ownership, there are significant medium to long term
opportunities through rationalising its UK office footprint as
well as offshoring more activities to its base in India. Together
with moderate organic growth we believe that the company
has the potential to deliver high single digit/low double digit
earnings growth, which should not be significantly impacted
by the broad market cycle. Despite its quality, the company
trades at a moderate rating. The recently announced
acquisition of Wells Fargo’s Share Services business in North
America is a positive development in our view. Funds
managed by the Investment Manager currently hold ¢.5% of
the company’s equity.

IFG Group is a financial services holding company with two
operating assets. London-based Saunderson House is a
wealth manager with almost £5bn of assets under advice.
James Hay is an investment platform, originally a pioneer in the
provision of Self-Invested Pension Plans (SIPPs). Over the past
few years, IFG has sold a number of other activities to focus on
Saunderson House and James Hay. We believe that both of
these businesses offer long-term structural sales growth, as
well as scope to make higher margins. The shares are dual-
listed in Dublin and London, with the primary listing in Dublin.
Comparative M&A multiples suggest that IFG shares trade at a
considerable discount to its Sum-of-Parts valuation. Funds
managed by the Investment Manager currently hold 8% of the
company’s equity.

Medica Group is the leading provider of teleradiology
services in the UK. The company provides outsourced
interpretation and reporting of MRI, CT and plain film x-ray
images. This is delivered through three primary services to UK
hospital radiology departments: Nighthawk out-of-hours
service; Routine cross-sectional reporting on MRl and CT
scans; and Routine plain film reporting on x-ray images.
Teleradiology as a service aims to improve patient care
through faster response and overcoming the challenge
hospitals face in the increasing volume in scanning activity.
Medica was previously owned by Close Brothers Private
Equity following a 2013 buyout. The company was IPO’d in
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March 2017 on the LSE and admitted to the FTSE Small Cap
index in June 2017. Funds managed by the Investment
Manager currently hold ¢.5% of the company’s equity.

Servelec Group is a UK technology company with three key
divisions. The health and social care software division is a
market leader in the design and operation of electronic patient
records for NHS mental and community trusts. The controls
division specifies, designs, assembles, installs and maintains
safety and remote control systems for process industries. The
technologies division provides software, hardware and systems
for industrial telemetry and SCADA applications. It was listed in
November 2013, having previously been owned by a
Singaporean-listed group. The company has strong cash
generation and a robust balance sheet and has utilised this
effectively through acquisitions to augment the proposition. We
believe the company has strong positions in markets exposed
to long term structural change. Funds managed by the
Investment Manager currently hold 9% of the company’s
equity.

Tribal Group is a global provider of products and services to
the international education, training and learning markets.
Today, the company focuses its activities on student records
and administration systems and quality review inspection
services. It has a high market share in a number of product
niches and geographies. We believe that the company has the
potential to grow through increasing its international sales, as
well as updating and upselling to its existing UK customer
base. Since November 2015 the company’s board has been
substantially refreshed, a non-core subsidiary sold and equity
raised to strengthen the balance sheet. The company is one
year in to a three year strategy and has effectively reduced its
overhead and is developing its next generation software
platform. Funds managed by the Investment Manager currently
hold just below 10% of the company’s equity.

Tyman is a leading international supplier of engineered
components to the door and window industry in the new build
and repair and maintenance (RMI) markets. We originally
invested in the company following the fall in residential activity
around the financial crisis in 2009. Under the current
management team, the company has, through organic and
inorganic investment, increased its market leadership,
strengthened the product proposition and delivered significant
cost and sales synergies. We believe future upside exists in the
company’s ability to replicate its North American manufacturing
template to its operations in Europe and the Rest of the World
to achieve material efficiencies, and in the recovery of U.S.
single family housing activity to long term historical levels.
Funds managed by the Investment Manager currently hold
c.6% of the company’s equity.

Wilmington Group provides business information and training
services to professional business customers in the financial
services, medical and white-collar professional service sectors.
More than 80% of revenues in the main publishing and
information divisions are delivered digitally, typically on a
subscription basis, and with high levels of client retention. The
company is highly cash generative. Growth has been held back
over recent years by a significant fall, and no recovery, in its
legal training market and the decline in some legacy print
publications. This has masked strong growth in the rest of the
business, in particular in Risk and Compliance. The company’s
strong cash flow has enabled it to make value-enhancing
acquisitions again. In January 2017, it acquired Health Service
Journal (HSJ) from Ascential to bolster the Healthcare division.
Funds managed by the Investment Manager currently hold 5%
of the company’s equity.

GVQ Investment Management Limited
14 September 2017

The unconstrained, long-term philosophy and concentrated portfolios resulting from the Investment Manager’s investment style can lead to periods of significant short-
term variances of performance relative to comparative indices. The Investment Manager believes that evaluating performance over rolling periods of no less than three

years, as well as assessing risk taken to generate these returns, is most appropriate given the investment style and horizon. The Investment Manager believes that this

investment style, properly executed, can generate attractive long-term risk adjusted returns.

All statements of opinion and/or belief contained in this Investment Manager’s report and all views expressed and all projections, forecasts or statements relating to
expectations regarding future events or the possible future performance of the Company represent the Investment Manager’s own assessment and interpretation of
information available to it at the date of this report. As a result of various risks and uncertainties, actual events or results may differ materially from such statements,
views, projections or forecasts. No representation is made or assurance given that such statements, views, projections or forecasts are correct or that the objectives of

the Company will be achieved.
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Other Information

Business and Status of the Company

The principal activity of the Company is to conduct business as
an investment trust. The Company is currently an investment
company in accordance with the provisions of Section 833 of
the Companies Act 2006. The Directors do not envisage any
change in the Company’s activity in the future.

The Company has been incorporated with an indefinite life but
is subject to an annual continuation vote. The Company is
registered in England and Wales with number 05448627 .

The Company has received written approval from HM Revenue
and Customs as an authorised investment trust under Section
1158 of the Corporation Tax 2010 (“CTA”) and the ongoing
requirements for approved companies in Chapter 3 Part 2 of
the Investment Trust (Approved Company) (Tax) Regulations
2011 (Statutory Instruments 2011/2999). The Company

will continue to be treated as an investment trust company,
subject to there being no serious breaches of the conditions for
approval. The Company’s status as an investment trust means
that the Company does not pay capital gains tax on any profits
arising from the disposal of its investments.

Investment Objective

The investment objective of the Company is to achieve absolute
returns (i.e. growth in the value of investments) rather than
relative returns (i.e. attempting to outperform selected indices)
over a medium-term period, principally through capital growth.

Investment Policy

The Company invests primarily in equity and equity-linked
securities quoted on markets operated by the London Stock
Exchange where the Investment Manager believes the
securities are undervalued and could benefit from strategic,
operational or management initiatives. The Company also has
the flexibility to invest up to 20% of the Company’s gross
assets at the time of investment in securities quoted on other
recognised exchanges.

The Company may invest up to 20% of its gross assets at
the time of investment in unquoted securities, provided that,
for the purpose of calculating this limit, any undrawn
commitments which may still be called shall be deemed to be
an unquoted security.

The maximum investment in any single investee company will
be no more than 15% of the Company’s investments at the
time of investment.
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The Company will not invest more than 10%, in aggregate, of
the value of its total assets at the time the investment is made
in other listed closed-end investment funds.

Other than as set out above, there are no specific restrictions
on concentration and diversification. The Board does expect
the portfolio to be relatively concentrated, with the majority of
the value of investments typically concentrated in the securities
of 10 to 15 issuers across a range of industries. There is also
no specific restriction on the market capitalisation of securities
into which the Company will invest, although it is expected

that the majority of the investments by value will be invested

in companies too small to be considered for inclusion in the
FTSE 250 Index.

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Board to
take on borrowings of up to 25% of the NAV at the time the
borrowings are incurred for investment purposes.

Performance and Dividend

Over the year to 30 June 2017, net assets have increased by
£38.0 million representing an increase of 27.5% (29.3%
increase on a per share basis). Further information on the
performance of the Company’s portfolio is contained in the
Investment Manager’s Report on pages 5 to 13.

The Company’s investment objective is one of capital growth
and it is anticipated that returns for Shareholders will derive
primarily from capital gains. The Board is governed by the
rules for investment trusts that require that the Company must
not retain more than 15% of its income from any one year. The
Board recommends a final dividend of 0.78p (2016: 0.78p) per
Ordinary share, amounting to £533,000 (2016: £545,000) based
on the Ordinary share capital at the date of this report.
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Performance Analysis Using KPIs

In order to measure the success of the Company in meeting its
objectives and to evaluate the performance of the Investment
Manager, the Directors take into account the following key
performance indicators:

NAV per Ordinary share
The NAV per Ordinary share, including revenue reserves, as at
30 June 2017 was 256.00p (30 June 2016: 198.06p).

Movement in the Company'’s share price

In the year to 30 June 2017, the Company’s share price
increased by 25.6% from 178.00p to 223.50p. The share price
total return, taking account of the 0.78p dividend paid in the
year, was 29.6%.

Discount of the share price in relation to the NAV

Over the year, the discount of the Ordinary share price in
relation to the NAV ranged from 0.7% to 16.4%. As at 30 June
2017, the Company’s shares traded at a discount of 12.7%
(80 June 2016: discount of 10.1%).

Ongoing charges
The ongoing charges ratio was 1.25% in the year to 30 June
2017 (30 June 2016: 1.40%).

Investment Manager

The Investment Manager appointed by the Company is
GVQIM. Established in 2002, the public equity team of
GVQIM, formerly of SVGIM, was one of the first in the UK to
invest in publicly traded equities using private equity
techniques. The team consists of a number of investment
professionals who combine a number of complementary skill
sets, including corporate finance, traditional fund
management, research and private equity disciplines. In
addition, GVQIM makes use of a panel of industrial advisers
and other external due diligence providers. GVQIM currently
has funds under management of more than £700m.

Investment Management Agreement

The Company’s investments are managed by GVQIM under an
agreement dated 19 February 2015. The Investment Manager’s
appointment is subject to termination on 12 months’ notice
given at any time by either party.

There are no specific provisions contained within the Investment
Management Agreement relating to compensation payable in the
event of termination of the agreement other than entitlement to
fees, including performance fees, which would be payable within
any notice period. However, in the event that a continuation
resolution proposed at any Annual General Meeting is not passed,
the Investment Management Agreement expressly permits the
Company to give notice terminating the Investment Manager’s
appointment without any compensation being payable to the
Investment Manager in lieu of any period of notice otherwise
required under the Investment Management Agreement.

The Board keeps the performance of the Investment Manager
under continual review, and the Management Engagement
Committee, comprising all Directors, conducts an annual
appraisal of the Investment Manager’s performance, and
makes a recommendation to the Board about the continuing
appointment of the Investment Manager. During the year, the
Board reviewed the continuing appointment of the Investment
Manager and agreed that the Investment Manager has
executed the investment strategy according to the Board’s
expectations. Therefore, it is the opinion of the Directors that
the continuing appointment of GVQ Investment Management
Limited is in the interests of shareholders as a whole.

Investment Manager’s Fees

The Investment Manager is entitled to receive from the
Company a basic fee together with, where applicable, a
performance fee.

Basic Fee

The basic management fee accrues daily, and is payable
quarterly in arrears. The basic fee is the lower of (i) 1.0% of the
NAV of the Company and (ii) 1.0% per annum of the
Company’s market capitalisation.
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Other Information (coniinued)

Performance Fee Arrangements

The Company’s performance is measured over rolling three-
year periods ending on 30 June each year, by comparing
the NAV total return per share over a performance period
against the total return performance of the FTSE Small Cap
(ex Investment Companies) Index. A performance fee is
payable if the NAV total return per share (calculated before
any accrual for any performance fee to be paid in respect of
the relevant performance period) at the end of the relevant
performance period exceeds both:

() the NAV per share at the beginning of the relevant
performance period as adjusted by the aggregate amount
of (a) the total return on the FTSE Small Cap (ex Investment
Companies) Index (expressed as a percentage) and (b)
2.0% per annum over the relevant performance period
(“Benchmark NAV”); and

(i) the high watermark (which is the highest NAV per share by
reference to which a performance fee was paid previously).

The Investment Manager will be entitled to 15% of the excess
of the NAV total return over the higher of the Benchmark NAV
per share and the high watermark. Payment of a performance
fee that has been earned will be deferred to the extent that the
amount payable exceeds 1.75% per annum of the Company’s
NAV at the end of the relevant performance period (amounts
deferred will be payable when, and to the extent that, following
any later performance period(s) with respect to which a
performance fee is payable, it is possible to pay the deferred
amounts without causing that cap to be exceeded or the
relevant NAV total return per share to fall below the relevant
Benchmark NAV per share and/or the relevant high watermark).

A performance fee of £1,856,000 is payable in respect of the
rolling three-year period ended 30 June 2017 (2016: £nil).
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Administration Agreement

On 1 October 2016 PATAC Limited replaced Capita Sinclair
Henderson as Company Secretary and Administrator. The fee
charged in the year was £120,000 (2016: £98,000). The annual
fee is £110,000 per annum and is subject to annual review
based on the UK Retail Price Index. However, an additional fee
of £10,000 was awarded in the current year for additional work
performed.



Principal Risks and Uncertainties Associated with the Company

The Board believes that the overriding risks to shareholders are events and developments which can affect the general level of
share prices, including, for instance, inflation or deflation, economic recessions and movements in interest rates and currencies
which are outside of the control of the Board.

STRATEGIC EQUITY CAPITAL
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The principal ongoing risks and uncertainties currently faced by the Company, which may vary in significance from time to time,
are outlined below, together with the controls and actions taken to mitigate those risks.

Principal Risk

Investment Performance

The unconstrained long-term philosophy
and concentrated portfolios resulting
from the investment strategy can lead to
periods of significant short-term
variation in performance. The underlying
investments are in companies which,
due to their smaller size, may have
limited product lines, limited financial
resources with dependence on a few
key individuals and less liquid shares.
These risks are more significant than in
larger companies.

Operational Risk

The Company appoints and relies on a
number of third parties including the
Investment Manager to provide it with the
necessary services, such as registrar,
depository, custodian, administrator,
company secretary, lawyers, external
auditors and brokers.

Mitigation

The Board maintains a close review of
how the Investment Manager invests
to implement the investment strategy
and regularly reviews adherence to the
investment policy.

The Board maintains a longer-term
perspective in relation to monitoring
performance of the Investment Manager
in achieving the investment objective.

The Board relies on the Investment
Manager to engage actively with the
investee companies in order to support
long term value enhancement and the
actions taken are reviewed regularly by
the Board.

The Board has a detailed risk matrix
which is reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board twice yearly and is used as
a tool to consider the principal risks of the
Company and the controls that are in
place in relation to those risks where
appropriate.

Key appointments of third party service
providers are taken after a formal process
ensuring the required skills and
experience are satisfied. An annual review
of service providers is carried out by the
Management Engagement Committee.

Internal control reports on the systems
and processes of the Company’s service
providers are reviewed at least annually
and as appropriate and any findings
discussed where appropriate.

Action taken in the year

The Board, through its review process,
did not identify any specific new

action required either with the portfolio
as a whole or with any one specific
investment to mitigate performance risk
over and above that already taken by the
Investment Manager.

Supervision of third party service
providers has been maintained in the year.

The Board, through its review process
closely monitored the change in Lead
Manager during the year and the change
in the Company’s Administrator from
Capita Sinclair Henderson Limited to
PATAC Limited.

The Audit Committee undertook a tender
process in May 2017 for the role of UK tax
advisor and PwC was appointed with
effect from 7 July 2017.

The Board through its review process did
not identify any other specific new actions.
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Principal Risk

Regulatory Compliance and Legislation
The Company is a UK incorporated
company with a premium listing on

the London Stock Exchange, is an
authorised investment trust and has
appointed GVQIM as Alternative
Investment Fund Manager (“AIFM”) and
Cannaccord Genuity as Broker.

Discount/Premium

A significant share price discount or
premium to the Company’s NAV per
share, or related volatility, could lead to
high levels of uncertainty or speculation
and the potential to reduce investor
confidence.

Economic, Political and External Factors
The Company invests predominantly in
UK shares and therefore performance
may be impacted by economic, political
and other factors which affect either the
operation of the markets that portfolio
companies trade in, the UK stock market
or currency movements. In particular
small changes can have a larger impact
on small companies.

Investment Manager

The loss of key individuals at the
Investment Manager could have or be
perceived to have a material effect on the
Company'’s performance.

Mitigation

The Board is comprised of individuals
whose background qualifications and
experience ensure that the relevant
regulatory and legislative requirements
are understood. Where appropriate,
advice and training are sought from
service providers. Board selection and
performance review processes support
this approach.

The Board has established share
issuance and share buy-back processes
to assist in the moderation of share price
premium and discount to NAV.

Shareholders are kept informed of
developments as far as practicable and
are encouraged to attend briefings, such
as the Company’s Annual General
Meeting, to understand the
implementation of the investment strategy
to achieve the Company’s objectives.

The exposure to these external factors

is considered largely outside of the
Company’s control so regular monitoring is
carried out with regards to the likely effects
should any potential mitigation be possible.

Limits are set for investment in overseas
based investments.

Hedging of currency is not chosen as a
mitigator due to the relative cost benefit
not being compelling.

In order to reduce this risk the Investment
Manager operates a team based
approach to fund management. The team
consists of a number of investment
professionals who combine a number of
complementary skill sets, including
corporate finance, traditional fund
management, research and private equity
disciplines. The team is also supported
by the Industry Advisory Panel of the
Investment Manager.

Action taken in the year

No changes were made to the Board
during the year.

During the year under review, the
Company’s shares traded at a discount to
NAV of between 0.7% and 16.4%.

The Directors authorised the buy-back of
975,419 shares to be held in Treasury.

The UK’s exit from the European Union
remains an area of focus as to potential
impact to performance.

The Board monitors and reviews the
position of the Company, ensuring that
adequate cash balances exist to allow
flexibility.

The Board reviewed in detail the response
of the Investment Manager to the
changes in key personnel and were
satisfied with the systems, processes and
individuals supporting the Company
going forward. They communicated that
view and expressed confidence in the
team both internally and externally. The
Board continues to monitor the situation
following the changes.
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Viability Statement

The Board has assessed the prospects of the Company over the
three years to 30 June 2020. This assessment period has been
chosen as the Board believes it represents an appropriate period
given the long-term investment objectives of the Company, the
low working capital and the simplicity of the business model.

In making this three year assessment, the Board has taken the
following factors into account:

e The nature of the Company’s portfolio
e The Company’s investment strategy

e The potential impact of the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties

* Annual continuation vote

e Share buy-backs

¢ The liquidity of the Company’s portfolio
e Market falls and gains

e The level of existing and potential long-term liabilities

The Company’s portfolio currently includes a large position in
cash or liquid money market funds. Over the last five years,
cash and liquid money market funds have averaged c.10.5%
of the NAV. Cash balances can be varied due to changes in
market conditions, but positive cash levels are expected to be
maintained over the period.

The Company has not been geared for many years and the
current policy of the Board is not to have a gearing facility.

The Directors have also carried out an exhaustive assessment
of the principal risks, as noted on pages 17 and 18, that are
facing the Company over the period of the review, including
those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity.

Based on this assessment, the Directors are confident that the
Company’s investment approach, portfolio management and
balance sheet approach will ensure that the Company will be
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall
due over the period to 30 June 2020.

Going Concern

A continuation vote is proposed at each Annual General
Meeting of the Company. In the event that any such resolution
is not passed, the Directors will be required to bring forward
proposals to liquidate, open-end or otherwise reconstruct the
Company. The Directors have considered the application of the
Statement of Recommended Practice for Financial Statements
of Investment Trust Companies and Venture Capital Trusts,
which states that, even if an investment company is
approaching a wind-up and shareholders have yet to vote on
the issue and provided that the Board has not concluded that
there is no realistic alternative to winding up the company, it
will usually be more appropriate for the financial statements to
be prepared on a going (rather than non-going) concern basis.

In assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern the Directors have also considered the Company’s
investment objective, detailed on page 14, risk management
policies, detailed on pages 17 and 18, capital management
(see Note 17 to the financial statements), the nature of its
portfolio and expenditure projections and believe that the
Company has adequate resources, an appropriate financial
structure and suitable management arrangements in place to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
In addition, the Board has had regard to the Company’s
investment performance (see page 1), the price at which the
Company’s shares trade relative to their NAV (see page 1) and
ongoing investor interest in the continuation of the Company
(including feedback from meetings and conversations with
Shareholders by the Company’s advisers).

Based on their assessment and considerations, the Directors
have concluded that they should continue to prepare the
financial statements of the Company on a going concern basis
and the financial statements have been prepared accordingly.

Resolution 11 at this year’s Annual General Meeting represents
the annual continuation vote by Shareholders on the
Company’s future. The Board believes this resolution to be in
the best interests of the Company and its members as a whole,
and strongly recommends that Shareholders should vote in
favour of Resolution 11 as it intends to do in respect of its own
beneficial shareholdings.
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Other Information (coniinued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues
As an investment trust, the Company has no employees,
property or activities other than investment. The Company has
no greenhouse gas emissions to report from its operations, nor
does it have responsibility for any other emission-producing
sources under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and
Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013.

The Board is comprised entirely of non-executive Directors and
the day-to-day management of the Company’s business is
delegated to the Investment Manager (details of the Investment
Management Agreement are set out on pages 15 and 16).
Therefore the Directors do not consider it necessary for the
Company to have environmental, human rights or community
policies in place.

However, in carrying out its activities and in its relationships
with service providers, the Company aims to conduct itself
responsibly, ethically and fairly. The Investment Manager
aims to be a responsible investor and believes it is important
to invest in companies that act responsibly in respect of
environmental, ethical and social issues. The Investment
Manager’s responsible investment policies and beliefs can be
found on the Company’s website. The Investment Manager is
a signatory of the UK Stewardship Code and aims to comply
with the majority of its recommendations.

The Investment Manager has considerable experience in
corporate engagement. Its corporate engagement principles and
engagement policy can be found on the Company’s website.

Modern Slavery

The Company is not within the scope of the Modern Slavery
Act 2015 because it has insufficient turnover and is therefore
not obliged to make a human trafficking statement.
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Diversity

The Board of Directors comprises four male Directors and one
female Director and their biographical details are set out on
page 2.

The Board’s policy on diversity, including gender, is to consider
this during the recruitment process. The Board is committed to
appointing the most appropriate candidate who is the best fit

for the Company regardless of gender or other forms of diversity.

On behalf of the Board

Richard Hills
Chairman
14 September 2017
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Directors

The Directors in office at the date of this report and their
biographical details are shown on page 2.

Corporate governance
The Company’s corporate governance statement is set out on
pages 24 to 30 and forms part of the Report of the Directors.

Share Capital

The Company’s issued share capital consists of 68,883,472
Ordinary shares as at 30 June 2017, each with a nominal value
of 10 pence, representing the Company’s issued share capital.
All shares have equal voting rights. The maximum number of
Ordinary shares in issue during the year was 68,883,472.

During the year the Company purchased 975,419 Ordinary
shares to be held in Treasury at a total cost of £2,118,000,
representing 1.4% of the Ordinary shares in issue at the
year end.

As at 30 June 2017 there were 975,419 shares held in Treasury.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been informed of the following notifiable
interests in the voting rights of the Company as at 30 June
2017:

Number of % of total

shares held voting rights

RIT Capital Partners plc 9,818,227 14.25
Brewin Dolphin 3,525,787 5.12
Arbuthnot Fund Managers 3,412,657 4.95
lan Armitage 3,404,800 4.94
Schroders plc 3,111,987 4.52
Sir Clive Thompson 2,679,102 3.89

Subsequent to the year end, the Company was notified of the
following changes to the above holdings:

On 10 July 2017, the Company was notified that Brewin
Dolphin held 3,368,037 shares, representing 4.89% of voting
rights then on 12 July, was notified that Brewin Dolphin held
3,718,437 shares representing 5.40% of voting rights.

Information About Securities Carrying Voting Rights
The following information is disclosed in accordance with the
Large and Medium sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008 and DTR 7.2.6 of the FCA’s
Disclosure and Transparency Rules:

¢ The Company’s capital structure and voting rights are
summarised above.

e Details of the substantial Shareholders in the Company are
listed above.

* The rules concerning the appointment and replacement
of Directors are contained in the Company’s Articles of
Association and are discussed on page 26.

¢ Details of the powers of the Directors to issue or buy-back
the Company’s shares are disclosed above and on page 22.

* There are no restrictions concerning the transfer of
securities in the Company; no special rights with regard to
control attached to securities; no agreements between
holders of securities regarding their transfer known to the
Company; and no agreements which the Company is party
to that might affect its control following a successful
takeover bid.

e There are no agreements between the Company and its
Directors concerning compensation for loss of office.

Auditor

KPMG LLP have confirmed their willingness to continue in
office as Auditor and a resolution proposing their appointment
will be submitted at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of the
Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are aware, there
is no relevant information of which the Auditor is unaware;
and each Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to
have taken as a Director to make himself/herself aware of any
relevant information and to establish that the Auditor is aware
of that information.

21



Report of the Directors (continued)

Financial Risk Management

Information about the Company’s financial risk management
objectives and policies is set out in Note 17 of the financial
statements on pages 55 to 58.

Requirements of the Listing Rules

Listing Rule 9.8.4 requires the Company to include specified
information in a single identifiable section of the Annual Report
or a cross reference table indicating where the information is
set out. The Directors confirm that no disclosures are required
in relation to Listing Rule 9.8.4.

Annual General Meeting

The Notice of the Annual General Meeting to be held on

8 November 2017, is set out on pages 61 to 64. Full details of
all resolutions can be found in the Notice. The resolutions to be
proposed as items of special business are set out below.

To continue the Company (Resolution 11)

The Board previously committed to providing Shareholders
with an opportunity to vote annually on an ordinary resolution
to continue the Company as an investment trust. The purpose
of Resolution 11 is to satisfy that commitment.

To authorise the allotment of shares (Resolution 12)
Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 provides that the
Directors may not allot new shares without Shareholder
approval. The purpose of Resolution 12, which is proposed as
an ordinary resolution, is to empower the Directors to allot
shares with an aggregate nominal value of up to £683,874,
being approximately 10% of the Company’s issued Ordinary
share capital as at the latest practicable date prior to the
publication of this document. The authority granted to the
Directors if this Resolution 12 is passed would last until the
earlier of the Annual General Meeting in 2018 or 8 February
2019.
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To disapply Section 570 of the Companies Act 2006
(Resolution 13)

Under Section 570 of the Companies Act 2006, if the Directors
wish to allot any equity securities, or sell any treasury shares
(should they elect to hold any), for cash, they must first offer
them to existing Shareholders in proportion to their
shareholdings. The purpose of Resolution 13, which is
proposed as a special resolution, is to allow the Directors to
allot shares, or sell any treasury shares, for cash other than in
accordance with Section 570 up to a maximum aggregate
nominal amount of £683,874, representing approximately 10%
of the Company’s issued Ordinary share capital of 68,387,406
10p shares as at 13 September 2017 (being the latest
practicable date prior to publication of this document).

Shares issued pursuant to this authority will be issued at a
price of not less than the prevailing NAV per share, including
current period revenue.

This authority will last until the earlier of the Annual General
Meeting in 2018 or 8 February 2019.

To authorise the Company to purchase its own Ordinary
shares (Resolution 14)

The purpose of Resolution 14, which is proposed as a special
resolution, is to renew the authority of the Company to
purchase its own shares. As stated in the prospectus issued by
the Company in connection with its listing on the London Stock
Exchange in July 2005, the Company may purchase shares in
the market in order to address any imbalance between the
supply of and demand for shares and to increase the net asset
value per share. The Company will make such purchases
pursuant to this authority only where the Directors believe that
to do so will result in an increase in the NAV per share for
remaining Shareholders and is in the best interests of
Shareholders generally.

The authority is limited to 10,251,272 Ordinary shares,
representing approximately 14.99% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at 13 September 2017 (being the latest practicable
date prior to publication of this document).
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The Company will only purchase Ordinary shares at prices
which are below the last published NAV per Ordinary share.
The maximum price (exclusive of expenses) payable per
Ordinary share under this authority is the higher of (a) 5%
over the average of the middle market prices of the Ordinary
shares according to the Daily Official List of the London Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately before the
date on which the Company agrees to buy the shares and (b)
that stipulated by the regulatory technical standards adopted
by the EU pursuant to the Market Abuse Regulation from time
to time. The minimum price payable per Ordinary share under
this authority is the nominal value of that Ordinary share. Any
purchases of Ordinary shares made pursuant to this authority
will be market purchases.

Any such purchases will be made during the period
commencing at the close of the Annual General Meeting and
ending on the earlier of the date of the Company’s Annual
General Meeting in 2018 or 8 May 2019.

The Company may purchase its own shares either for holding
in treasury, or for subsequent cancellation. Shares held in
treasury will have no voting, dividend or other rights. The
Directors consider that the purchase of shares into treasury
could be beneficial to Shareholders in the long term, in that,
subject to the authority granted by Resolution 13, they may be
re-sold at NAV or above to further the investment objectives of
the Company.

As at 13 September 2017 (being the latest practicable date
prior to publication of this document), the Company held
1,471,485 shares in treasury.

Directors’ Recommendation

The Directors consider that all the resolutions to be proposed
at the Annual General Meeting are in the best interests of

the Company and its members as a whole. The Directors
unanimously recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of all
the resolutions, as they intend to do in respect of their own
beneficial holdings.

On behalf of the Board

Richard Hills
Chairman
14 September 2017
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Statement on Corporate Governance

This Corporate Governance Statement forms part of the
Directors’ Report.

Statement of Compliance with the AIC Code of

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate
governance. The Board is accountable to the Company’s
Shareholders for good corporate governance. This Statement
describes how the principles of corporate governance are
applied to the Company.

The Board has considered the principles and recommendations
of the AIC Code of Corporate Governance (“AlC Code”) by
reference to the AIC Corporate Governance Guide for
Investment Companies (“AlC Guide”) published in July 2016,
both of which can be found on the AIC website at
www.theaic.co.uk. The AIC Code, as explained by the AIC
Guide, addresses all the principles set out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code (“UK Code”) as well as setting out additional
principles and recommendations on issues that are of specific
relevance to investment companies.

The Board considers that reporting against the principles and
recommendations of the AIC Code, and by reference to the AIC
Guide (which incorporates the UK Code), will provide better
information to Shareholders than if it had adopted the UK
Code. A copy of the UK Code can be found at www.frc.org.uk.

The Company has complied throughout the year, and
continues to comply, with the recommendations of the AIC
Code and the relevant provisions of the UK Code, except as
set out below.

The UK Code includes provisions relating to:

e The role of the chief executive
e Executive directors’ remuneration
e The need for an internal audit function

For the reasons set out in the AIC Guide, and as explained in
the UK Code, the Board considers these provisions are not
relevant to the position of the Company, being an externally
managed investment company. In particular, all of the
Company’s day-to-day management and administrative
functions are outsourced to third parties. As a result, the
Company has no executive directors, employees or internal
operations. The Company has therefore not reported further in
respect of these provisions.
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The Company has complied with the recommendations of the
AIC Code except the following:

¢ A full portfolio listing is not provided as in the opinion of
the Directors it is not in the best commercial interests of
the Company.

e Given the size and nature of the Board it is not deemed
appropriate to appoint a senior independent director.

e Owing to the size and nature of the Company the Board
does not believe it is necessary to have a separate
Nomination Committee or Remuneration Committee.

Board of Directors

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board is responsible
for all matters of control and direction of the Company,
including its investment policy.

As at the date of this Report, the Board consists of five non-
executive Directors. Biographical details of the Directors in
office at the year end can be found on page 2.

The terms and conditions of the appointment of the non-
executive Directors are formalised in letters of appointment,
copies of which are available for inspection from the registered
office of the Company and will be available at the Annual
General Meeting.

The Board has agreed arrangements whereby Directors may
take independent professional advice in the furtherance of their
duties and the Company has Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance to cover legal defence costs. Under the Company’s
Articles of Association, the Directors are provided, subject to
the provisions of UK legislation, with an indemnity in respect of
liabilities which they may sustain or incur in connection with
their appointment. Apart from this, there are no third party
indemnity provisions in place.
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Board Operation

At the Board meetings, the Directors follow a formal agenda to
review the Company’s investments and all other important issues
to ensure that control is maintained over the Company’s affairs.

The Board is responsible for adherence to the investment

policy and strategic and operational decisions of the Company.

The Company’s main functions are delegated to a number of
service providers, each engaged under separate legal
contracts. The management of the Company’s portfolio is
delegated to the Investment Manager, which has discretion to
manage the assets in accordance with the Company’s
objectives and policies. A representative of the Investment
Manager attends each Board meeting to present written and
verbal reports on its activities and portfolio performance. At
each Board meeting, the Directors review the Company’s
investments and all other important issues to ensure that
control is maintained over the Company’s affairs. The Board
has adopted a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved
for approval. These reserved matters include the following:

¢ Investment and business strategy of the Company.

¢ Annual and half-yearly reports and accounts and
accounting policies, prospectuses, circulars and other
shareholder communications.

® Acquisitions and disposals of interests of more than 29.9%
in the voting shares of any investee company.

¢ Dividend policy.
¢ Board appointments and removals.

e Appointment and removal of the Company’s service
providers including the Investment Manager/AIFM,
Depository and Auditor.

Members of the Board also meet with representatives of the
Investment Manager on an informal and regular basis.

Meetings

The Directors meet at regular Board meetings, at least once
every quarter, with additional meetings arranged as necessary.
The number of scheduled Board, Audit and Management
Engagement Committee meetings held during the year ended
30 June 2017 and the attendance of the individual Directors is
shown below:

Audit Committee Management Engagement

Board meetings meetings Committee meetings

Number of Number  Number of Number  Number of Number

meetings attended meetings attended meetings attended

Richard Hills 4 4 2 2 1 1
Sir Clive Thompson 4 4 - - - -
William Barlow 4 4 2 2 1 1
Josephine Dixon 4 4 2 2 1 1
Richard Locke 4 3 2 2 1 0
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In addition to the scheduled meetings, a number of further
Board and Audit Committee meetings were held during the
year to consider specific matters.

Board Balance and Independence

All of the Directors of the Company are non-executive and,
with the exception of Sir Clive Thompson, are independent of
the Investment Manager. Sir Clive Thompson is deemed non-
independent by virtue of his position on the Industry Advisory
Panel (“IAP”) of the Investment Manager.

The Directors possess a wide range of financial, business and
legal expertise relevant to the direction of the Company and
consider that they commit sufficient time to the Company’s
affairs.

Chairman

The Chairman, Mr Hills, is deemed by his fellow independent
Board members to be independent and to have no conflicting
relationships. He considers himself to have sufficient time to
commit to the Company’s affairs.

Re-election and Retirement of Directors

A Director shall retire and be subject to election at the first
Annual General Meeting after his or her appointment.
Thereafter, the Directors offer themselves for annual re-election
in conformity with good corporate governance.

The Board’s policy on tenure is that the maximum period that
any Director shall serve as a director of the Company shall
be limited and no Director shall be eligible to serve beyond
the twelfth Annual General Meeting following his or her
appointment. In the event that a Director is appointed at an
Annual General Meeting, for these purposes that Annual
General Meeting will not count towards the twelve.

Sir Clive Thompson had indicated that he would step down at
the 2017 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), being his twelfth
AGM following his appointment. However, he has accepted the
Board’s request to stay on for one more year. The Board will
begin the recruitment process for Sir Clive’s replacement in the
spring of 2018.

Directors’ Induction, Training and Development
Upon appointment to the Board, a new Director is provided with
a detailed induction pack containing relevant information about
the Company and their duties and responsibilities as a Director.

Directors’ training and development needs are reviewed by the
Board on an annual basis as part of the performance evaluation
process. The Board is committed to keeping up to date on matters
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which are directly relevant to their duties and responsibilities
to the Company. The Directors receive regular briefings and

updates from the Company’s Investment Manager and other
advisers on regulatory matters that may affect the Company.

Performance Evaluation

The Board’s decision to recommend the re-election of each
of the Directors is informed by a formal assessment of each
Director’s independence and contribution, and the balance
of skills, experience, length of service and knowledge of the
Company across the Board as a whole. This assessment is
made annually as part of the Board’s appraisal of its collective
performance and that of the Chairman, the Directors and the
Committees, and the independent status of each individual
Director and the Board as a whole. The evaluation of the
Chairman is led by the Deputy Chairman.

In 2017, the evaluation of the Board was carried out by way of
a questionnaire. Having considered and discussed the points
raised by the Directors in response to the questionnaire, the
Board has concluded that it has an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and length of service and that each Director
demonstrates effectiveness, a high level of commitment to
the Company, and considerable experience, expertise and
knowledge. In addition, the Board believes that, with the
exception of Sir Clive Thompson (who is considered to be
non-independent by virtue of his membership of the
Investment Manager’s IAP), each Director is independent of
judgement and that there are no relationships or circumstances
which are likely to affect the judgement of any Director.

Accordingly, the Board recommends the re-election of each
Director.

Committees of the Board

The Board has appointed three committees, to assist its
operations. Each committee’s delegated responsibilities are
clearly defined in formal terms of reference, which are available
from the Company’s Registered Office. Miss Dixon chairs

the Audit Committee and Mr Hills chairs the Management
Engagement Committee and the Disclosure Committee. Each
committee comprises all of the independent Directors of

the Company.

Audit Committee

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee and the
matters addressed by the Committee during the year under
review are detailed in the Audit Committee Report on pages
29 and 30.
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Management Engagement Committee

The Management Engagement Committee is responsible for
reviewing the performance of the Investment Manager and
making recommendations to the Board about the continuing
appointment of the Investment Manager. The Committee
also reviews the Company’s other service providers and
meets periodically.

The Management Engagement Committee met once over the
course of the year.

Disclosure Committee

Following the implementation of the Market Abuse Regulation
(“MAR?”) in July 2016, the Board agreed to form a Disclosure
Committee, comprising all Directors and chaired by Mr Hills,

to ensure the identification of inside information and the
Company’s ongoing compliance with MAR. The Committee will
meet on an ad hoc basis.

The Disclosure Committee did not meet during the year but has
met on one occasion since the year end.

Remuneration Matters

The Board has resolved that, in view of the size of the Board, it
is most appropriate for matters of remuneration to be dealt with
by the Board as a whole.

Full details of the remuneration arrangements for Directors
can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages
31 to 383.

Nomination Matters
The Board as a whole undertakes the role of the Nomination
Committee.

Review of new Board appointments is a subject for the
whole Board to monitor and consider, led by the independent
Directors. The Board meets as and when required for this
purpose.

Company Secretary

The Board has direct access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary which is responsible for ensuring

that Board and Committee procedures are followed and

that applicable regulations are complied with. The Company
Secretary is also responsible to the Board for ensuring timely
delivery of financial and other relevant information and reports
and that statutory obligations of the Company are met.

Dialogue with Shareholders

Communication with Shareholders is given a high priority by
both the Board and the Investment Manager. Shareholders

can communicate with the Board by writing to the Company
Secretary at the address disclosed on page 60. Major
Shareholders of the Company are offered the opportunity to
meet with the Investment Manager and the Directors in order to
ensure that their views are understood. During the year under
review, the Chairman met with a number of major Shareholders
to solicit their views on the Company. All Shareholders are
encouraged to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting,
during which the Board and the Investment Manager are
available to discuss issues affecting the Company and
Shareholders have the opportunity to address questions to the
Investment Manager, the Board and the Chairman.

The half-yearly and annual reports are designed to present
a full and readily understandable review of the Company’s
activities and performance. Copies are available from
www.strategicequitycapital.com.

Conflicts of Interest

It is the responsibility of each individual Director to avoid an
unauthorised conflict of interest situation arising. He or she
must request authorisation from the Board as soon as he or
she becomes aware of the possibility of an interest that
conflicts or might possibly conflict with the interests of the
Company (a “situational conflict”). The Company’s Articles of
Association authorise the Board to approve such situations,
where deemed appropriate.

The Board is responsible for considering Directors’ requests for
authorisation of situational conflicts and for deciding whether
or not the situational conflict should be authorised. The factors
to be considered will include: whether the situational conflict
could prevent the Director from properly performing his or her
duties; whether it has, or could have, any impact on the
Company; and whether it could be regarded as likely to affect
the judgment and/or actions of the Director in question. When
the Board is deciding whether to authorise a conflict or
potential conflict, only Directors who have no interest in the
matter being considered are able to take the relevant decision,
and in taking the decision the Directors must act in a way they
consider, in good faith, will be most likely to promote the
Company’s success. The Directors are able to impose limits or
conditions when giving authorisation if they think this is
appropriate in the circumstances.

A register of conflicts is maintained by the Company Secretary
and is reviewed at Board meetings to ensure that any
authorised conflicts remain appropriate. Directors are required
to confirm at these meetings whether there has been any
change to their position.
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Internal Control Review

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
Company’s systems of internal control and for reviewing their
effectiveness. An ongoing process, in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council’s Guidance on Risk Management,
Internal Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting,
has been established for identifying, evaluating and managing
the risks faced by the Company. This process is regularly
reviewed by the Board. The risk management process and
systems of internal control are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Company’s
objectives. It should be recognised that such systems can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Internal control assessment process

Risk assessment and the review of internal controls are
undertaken by the Board in the context of the Company’s
overall investment objective. The review process, which has
been in place for the year ended 30 June 2017 and up to

the date of this report, covers the key business, operational,
compliance and financial risks facing the Company. In arriving
at its judgement of what risks the Company faces, the Board
considers the Company’s objectives in light of the following
factors:

e the nature and extent of risks which it regards as
acceptable for the Company to bear within its overall
business objective;

e the threat of such risks becoming reality;

e the Company’s ability to reduce the incidence and impact
of risk on its performance; and

e the cost to the Company and benefits related to the

Company and third parties of operating the relevant controls.

Against this backdrop, the Board has split the review into four
sections reflecting the nature of the risks being addressed. The
sections are as follows:

e corporate strategy;

¢ published information and compliance with laws and
regulations;

e relationship with service providers; and
® investment and business activities.

Given the nature of the Company’s activities and the fact that
most functions are subcontracted, the Board has concluded
that there is no need for the Company to have an internal audit
function. Instead, the Directors obtain information from key
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third party suppliers regarding the controls operated by them.
To enable the Board to make an appropriate risk and control
assessment, the information and assurances sought from third
parties include the following:

e details of the control environment;

e identification and evaluation of risks and control objectives;
¢ assessment of the communication procedures; and

e assessment of the control procedures.

The key procedures which have been established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:

e investment management is provided by GVQIM. The
Board is responsible for the implementation of the overall
investment policy and monitors the action of the Investment
Manager at regular meetings. The Audit Committee reviews
compliance reports from the Investment Manager on a
twice-yearly basis, and the Investment Manager’s
compliance officer is in attendance at these meetings;

e the provision of administration, accounting and company
secretarial duties are the responsibility of PATAC Limited.
The Audit Committee reviews the report on controls from
PATAC Limited on an annual basis;

e Northern Trust Global Services Limited act as depository
and custodian to the Company. The Audit Committee
reviews Northern Trust’s internal controls report on an
annual basis;

e the duties of investment management, accounting and
custody of assets are segregated. The procedures of the
individual parties are designed to complement one another;

e the Directors of the Company clearly define the duties and
responsibilities of their agents and advisers in the terms of
their contracts. The appointment of agents and advisers is
conducted by the Board after consideration of the quality
of the parties involved; the Board monitors their ongoing
performance and contractual agreements;

e mandates for authorisation of investment transactions and
expense payments are set by the Board; and

e the Board reviews detailed financial information produced
by the Investment Manager and the Company Secretary on
a regular basis.

The Directors have carried out a review of the effectiveness of
the systems of internal control as they have operated over the
period and up to the date of approval of the report and
financial statements. There were no matters arising from this
review that required further investigation and no significant
failings or weaknesses were identified.
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The Committee held two scheduled meetings during the year
under review.

The Committee’s main responsibilities are:

1. To review the half year and annual financial statements

The Committee considers whether the financial statements are
fair, balanced and understandable.

In addition, consistency of accounting policies, key areas of
judgement, the clarity of disclosure and compliance with
accounting and listing requirements, the going concern
assumption and the results of the audit are all covered in the
work of the Committee.

2. To review the risk management and effectiveness of
internal control policies and procedures of the
Company and its service providers

The Committee reviews and considers the Company’s

statement on risk management and internal control systems

included in the financial statements prior to endorsement by
the Board.

3. In relation to the external auditor:
e to review and approve terms of the external auditor;

e meet with the external auditor to discuss the outcomes
of their audit work;

® liaise with the auditor in respect of their planning of
their work and engagement terms, including fees;

* review auditor independence;

e consider appropriateness and terms of any auditor
appointment in respect of any non-audit work; and

e make recommendations to the Board relating to
appointment and re-appointment.

4. Consider the need for an internal audit function

The Board has concluded that there is no need for an internal
audit function due to the nature of the Company’s activities and
the fact that most functions are subcontracted.

The following matters were addressed by the Committee
during the period under review.

Risk Management and Effectiveness of Internal

Controls

The Committee conducted a robust review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems in September 2017, as part of its consideration of the
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended

30 June 2017. The review included considering those risks
that might threaten the Company’s business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity.

During the year the Committee has considered the following:

e the appropriateness of the risk matrix of the Company;

e the reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and risk
management systems of the principal service providers to
the Company; and

¢ the quarterly reports from the Depository.

Following that process, the Committee then recommended
to the Board the endorsement of the statement on internal
control, as included in this Report on page 28.

Half Year and Annual Financial Statements

Both the Half-yearly Report for the period ended 31 December
2016 and the Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2017
were reviewed in detail and in line with the Committee’s
responsibilities and formal recommendations were made to the
Board for approval. The Committee also considered the
following significant matters:

e the basis and reasonableness of the valuation of the
Company’s unquoted investment, Vintage 1;

¢ in discussion with the Auditor and the Investment Manager,
the calculation of the investment management and
performance fees payable to the Investment Manager;

e the prospects of the Company over the three year period
agreed by the Board when assessing the long-term viability
of the Company, and the appropriateness of the statement
from the Directors, as included in this Annual Report; and
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Statement on Corporate Governance (continued)

e the use of the going concern principle in the preparation of
the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017.
The Committee considered evidence supporting this
principle and reviewed the statement on going concern for
endorsement by the Board. This can be found on page 19.

Auditor

KPMG LLP were appointed as the Company’s Auditor with
effect from 17 February 2016 following an audit tender process
in December 2015. The Audit Director rotates every five years
in accordance with ethical guidelines and 2017 is the second
year for the current director.

Independence and Obijectivity of the Auditor
The Committee reviewed the independence and objectivity of
KPMG LLP as the Auditor in September 2017. The Committee
had no grounds to question the independence or objectivity of
the audit firm, their director or management. The Committee
also considered the performance of the Auditor by discussing
separately amongst themselves the appropriateness of KPMG
LLP’s approach to the audit, by detailed discussion with them
at the Audit Committee meeting in September 2017 of the
quality of their report to the Company, and from their ability to
assist the Committee in questions raised. The Committee was
satisfied with the performance of the Auditor.
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Audit Fees

The Audit Committee reviewed the audit plan and fees
presented by the Auditor and considered their report on the
annual financial statements at a meeting of the Committee
attended by the Auditor. The fee for the audit of the Annual
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June
2017 of £20,000 (excluding VAT) was considered and approved
by the Committee for recommendation to the Board.

Re-appointment of the Auditor

Following this review, the Committee is satisfied with

the performance of KPMG LLP and has no hesitation in
recommending their appointment as statutory Auditor to the
Company. A resolution to this effect will therefore be put to
Shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be
held on 8 November 2017.

Josephine Dixon
Audit Committee Chairman
14 September 2017
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The Board has prepared this report in accordance with
Schedule 8 of The Large and Medium-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.

An ordinary resolution for the approval of this report will be put
to Shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The law requires the Company’s Auditor to audit certain
disclosures provided. Where disclosures have been audited,
they are indicated as such. The Auditor’s opinion is included in
its report on pages 35 to 38.

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Statement from the Chairman

The Board presents the Directors’ Remuneration Report for
the year ended 30 June 2017, which has been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

The Board has resolved that, in view of the size of the Board, it
is most appropriate for matters of remuneration to be dealt with
by the Board as a whole. The Remuneration Policy is set out on
page 33.

During the year ended 30 June 2017, Directors’ fees were set at
a rate of £35,000 for the Chairman, £27,500 for the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and £24,000 for a non-executive Director
of the Company. Following a review of Directors’ fees, no
changes are currently being proposed.

There will be no significant change in the way the current
approved Remuneration Policy will be implemented in the
course of the next financial year.

Your Company'’s performance

The Company is required to include a performance graph in
this report comparing the Company’s total shareholder return
performance against that of a broad equity market index.
The Company is legally required to present a performance
comparison. However, comparison against an index is not the
objective of the Company. The following graph compares the
total shareholder return to the total return on the FTSE All-
Share Total Return Index. This index has been selected for
comparison of the Company’s performance for its generic
qualities as no listed index directly comparable to the
Company’s portfolio exists.

Change
250% -

200%

150%

100%

0% T T T T T T T T T T 1
07 08 09 10 1 12 13 14 15 16 17

— Strategic Equity Capital - Total Return Index
—— FTSE All-Share - Total Return Index
Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream

Directors’ emoluments for the year ended
30 June 2017 (audited)

The Directors who served in the year were paid the following
emoluments in the form of fees:

Year ended Year ended

30 June 2017 30 June 2016

£ £

Richard Hills 35,000 35,000
William Barlow (appointed on

1 February 2016) 24,000 10,000

Josephine Dixon 27,500 27,500

Richard Locke 24,000 24,000

Sir Clive Thompson* 24,000 24,000

lan Dighé (retired on
11 November 2015) - 8,733
Total 134,500 129,233

* Sir Clive Thompson’s Director’s fees are paid to Storm
Financial Limited.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued)

Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below, which is a statutory requirement, sets out,
in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and the
preceding year:

a) the remuneration paid to Directors; and

b) the cash returned to Shareholders by way of dividend.

Year ended Year ended

30 June 2017 30 June 2016
£ £ Change
Total remuneration 134,500 129,233 4.1%
Dividend paid 545,000 534,000 2.1%

Directors’ interests (audited)

There is no requirement under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or their terms of appointment, for Directors to hold
shares in the Company.

The interests of the Directors and any connected persons in
the Ordinary shares of the Company are set out below:

30 June 2017 30 June 2016
Richard Hills 60,000 60,000
William Barlow 10,000 -
Josephine Dixon 10,000 10,000
Richard Locke* 30,000 20,000
Sir Clive Thompson 2,679,102 2,679,102

*

This interest is held jointly by Mr Locke and Mrs Mary Locke.

There have been no changes to any of the above holdings
between 30 June 2017 and the date of this report.

None of the Directors or any persons connected with them had
a material interest in the Company’s transactions, arrangements
or agreements during the year.
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Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has a contract of service with the
Company, nor has there been any contract or arrangement
between the Company and any Director at any time during the
year. The terms of their appointment provide that a Director
shall retire and be subject to election at the first Annual General
Meeting after their appointment, and every year thereafter.
Directors are not entitled to any termination payments in
relation to their appointment. The Directors have committed

to standing for annual re-election in the interests of good
corporate governance.

Approval of Directors’ Remuneration Report

and Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June
2016 was approved by Shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting held on 9 November 2016. The votes cast by proxy
were as follows:

Directors’ Remuneration

Report Number of votes % of votes cast
For 17,712,908 99.82
Against 22,759 0.13
At Chairman’s discretion 9,488 0.05
Total votes cast 17,745,155 100.00
Number of votes withheld Nil

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which was approved by
Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on

11 November 2015, will next be put to Shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting in 2018. The votes cast by proxy on
11 November 2015 were as follows:

Directors’ Remuneration

Policy Number of votes % of votes cast
For 23,125,625 99.96
Against 10,000 0.04
At Chairman’s discretion - 0
Total votes cast 23,135,625 100.00
Number of votes withheld Nil
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

A resolution to approve this Remuneration Policy was
proposed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held
on 11 November 2015. The resolution was passed, and the
Remuneration Policy provisions set out below will apply until
they are next put to Shareholders for renewal of that approval.
The Directors’ Remuneration Policy will be put to Shareholders’
vote at least once every three years and in any year if there is
to be a change in the Directors’ Remuneration Policy.

The Company follows the recommendation of the AIC Code
that Directors’ remuneration should reflect their duties,
responsibilities and the value of their time spent on the
Company’s affairs. The Board’s policy is that the remuneration
of non-executive Directors should reflect the experience of
the Board as a whole, be fair and comparable to that of other
investment trusts that are similar in size, have a similar capital
structure and have a similar investment objective.

Any views expressed by Shareholders on the fees being paid
to Directors will be taken into consideration by the Board when
reviewing the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and in the annual
review of Directors’ fees.

The fees of the non-executive Directors are determined within
the limits set out in the Company’s Articles of Association. The
Articles provide that the aggregate limit for Director’s fees in
any one year is £200,000. Approval by Shareholders would be
required to increase that limit. The Directors are not eligible for
bonuses, pension benefits, share options, long-term incentive
schemes or other benefits as the Board does not consider

it to be appropriate at this time. There are no performance
conditions attached to the remuneration of the Directors as the
Board does not consider such arrangements or benefits
necessary or appropriate for non-executive directors.

Expected fees for year to Fees for year to

30 June 2018 30 June 2017

£ £

Chairman 35,000 35,000

Chairman of the Audit Committee 27,500 27,500

Non-executive Director 24,000 24,000
Total aggregate annual fees that can be paid to the Directors in any year under the

Directors’ Remuneration Policy, as set out in the Company’s Articles of Association 200,000 200,000

It is intended that the Company’s policy when determining the
duration of notice periods and termination payments under the
Directors’ letters of appointment will be based on prevailing
best practice guidelines. Under the Directors’ letters of
appointment, there is no notice period and no compensation is
payable to a Director on leaving office.

Approval

The Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by the
Board of Directors on 14 September 2017 and signed on its
behalf by the Chairman.

Richard Hills
Chairman
14 September 2017
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the Annual Report and the

Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law they are
required to prepare the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and
applicable law.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
its profit or loss for that period. In preparing these financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

¢ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable,
relevant and reliable;

e state whether they have been prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

e assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

e use the going concern basis of accounting unless they
either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the
assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.
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Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance
Statement that complies with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial information included on the
company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement of the Directors in

respect of the Annual Financial Report
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

e the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss of the Company; and

¢ the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
position of the issuer, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

We consider the Annual Report and accounts, taken as a whole,
is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s
position and performance, business model and strategy.

Richard Hills
Chairman
14 September 2017
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to the members of Strategic Equity Capital pic
We have audited the financial statements of

Strategic Equity Capital plc (“the Company”) for the Materiality: £1.79m (2016: £1.38m)
year ended 30 June 2017 which comprise the financial statements 1% (2016: 1%) of total assets
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of as a whole
Changes in Equity, Balance Sheet, Statement of Risk of material misstatement vs 2016
Cash Flows and the related notes, including the i _ )

. S Recurring risk Carrying amount of <>
accounting policies in note 1. .

quoted equity

In our opinion the financial statements: investments

— give a true and fair view of the state of
Company’s affairs as at 30 June 2017 and of its
profit for the year then ended,;

— have been properly prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union; and

— have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
(UK)™) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are
described below. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent
with our report to the audit committee.

We were appointed as auditor by the Directors on
17 February 2016. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement is the 2 years ended 30 June 2017.
We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,
and we remain independent of the Company in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including
the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities. No non-audit services prohibited
by that standard were provided.
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Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by
us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team. We summarise below the key audit matter (unchanged from 2016 ), in arriving at
our audit opinion above, together with our key audit procedures to address that matter and, as required for public interest
entities, our results from those procedures. The matter was addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken,
in the context of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and consequently are incidental to that opinion, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

The risk Our response

Carrying amount of quoted equity Low risk, high value: Our procedures included:

investments The Company’s portfolio of quoted

(£161.6 million; 2016 : £123.5 million) equity investments makes up 90.2% of
the Company’s total assets (by value)

— Tests of detail: Agreeing the
valuation of 100 per cent of quoted

Refer to page 29 (Audit Committee and is considered to be the key driver of equity investments in the portfolio to

Report), page 43 (accounting policy) results. We do not consider these externally quoted prices; and

and pages 49 to 52 (financial investments to be at a high risk of — Enquiry of custodians: Agreeing

disclosures) significant misstatement, or to be 100 per cent of quoted equity
subject to a significant level of judgment investment holdings in the portfolio
because they comprise liquid, quoted to independently received third party
investments. However, due to their confirmations from investment
materiality in the context of the financial custodians.

statements as a whole, they are

considered to be the area which had the Our results

greatest effect on our overall audit — We found the resulting carrying
strategy and allocation of resources in amount of quoted equity
planning and completing our audit. investments to be acceptable.




£179.2m (2016: £138.8m)

3. Our application of materiality and an overview of the

scope of our audit

Materiality for the financial statements as a whole was set
at £1.79m (2016: £1.38m ), determined with reference to a
benchmark of total assets, of which it represents 1%
(2016: 1%).

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any
uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding £89,000
(2016: £70,000), in addition to other identified
misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative
grounds.

Our audit of the Company was undertaken to the materiality
level specified above and was performed at the
administrator’s head office in Edinburgh.

Total Assets Materiality

£1.79m (2016: £1.38m)

£1.79m

Whole financial
statements materiality
(2016: £1.38m)

£89,000

Misstatements reported
to the audit committee
(2016: £70,000)

| Total Assets

. We have nothing to report on going concern

We are required to report to you if:

— we have anything material to add or draw attention to in
relation to the Directors’ statement in note 1.2 to the
financial statements on the use of the going concern
basis of accounting with no material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt over the Company’s use of
that basis for a period of at least twelve months from
the date of approval of the financial statements; or

— if the related statement under the Listing Rules set out
on page 19 is materially inconsistent with our audit
knowledge.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

. We have nothing to report on the other information

in the Annual Report

The Directors are responsible for the other information
presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or
our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have
not identified material misstatements in the other
information.

Strategic report and Directors’ report
Based solely on our work on the other information:

— we have not identified material misstatements in the
Strategic Report and the Directors’ report;

— in our opinion the information given in those reports for
the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

— in our opinion those reports have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Disclosures of principal risks and longer-term viability
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial
statements audit, we have nothing material to add or draw
attention to in relation to:

— the Directors’ confirmation within the Viability Statement
on page 19 that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company,
including those that would threaten its business model,
future performance, solvency and liquidity;

— the Principal Risks and Uncertainties disclosures
describing these risks and explaining how they are
being managed and mitigated; and
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— the Directors’ explanation in the Viability Statement of
how they have assessed the prospects of the Company,
over what period they have done so and why they
considered that period to be appropriate, and their
statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the
period of their assessment, including any related
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary
qualifications or assumptions.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the
Viability Statement. We have nothing to report in this
respect.

Corporate governance disclosures
We are required to report to you if:

— we have identified material inconsistencies between the
knowledge we acquired during our financial statements
audit and the Directors’ statement that they consider
that the Annual Report and financial statements taken
as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Company’s position and performance,
business model and strategy; or

— the section of the Annual Report describing the work of
the Audit Committee does not appropriately address
matters communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

We are required to report to you if the Corporate Governance
Statement does not properly disclose a departure from the
eleven provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified by the Listing Rules for our review.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

We have nothing to report on the other matters on which
we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report
to you if, in our opinion:

— adequate accounting records have not been kept, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

— the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

— certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified
by law are not made; or

— we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

KPMG
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7. Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page
34, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements including being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud, other
irregularities, or error, and to issue our opinion in an
auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud, other irregularities or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud or other irregularities is
higher than for one resulting from error, as they may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control and
may involve any area of law and regulation not just those
directly affecting the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the
FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

. The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our

responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

John Waterson (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

319 St. Vincent Street

Glasgow

G2 5AS

14 September 2017
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Year ended 30 June 2017

Year ended 30 June 2016

Revenue Capital Revenue  Capital
return return Total return return Total
Note £°000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £’000 £’000
Investments
Gains/(losses) on investments held at fair value
through profit or loss 8 - 41,587 41,587 - (13,784) (13,784)
- 41,587 41,587 - (13,784) (13,784)
Income
Dividends 2,955 - 2,955 2,306 - 2,306
Interest 36 - 36 74 - 74
Other income - - - 21 - 21
Total income 2,991 - 2,991 2,401 - 2,401
Expenses
Investment Manager’s fee (1,418) - (1,418) (1,419) - (1,419)
Investment Manager’s performance fee - (1,856) (1,856) - - -
Other expenses (583) - (583) (632) - (632)
Total expenses (2,001) (1,856) (3,857) (2,051) - (2,051)
Net return before taxation 990 39,731 40,721 350 (13,784) (13,434)
Taxation 5 (75) - (75) (48) - (48)
Net return and total comprehensive income for
the year 915 39,731 40,646 302 (13,784) (13,482)
pence pence pence pence pence pence
Return per Ordinary share 7 1.31 56.98 58.29 0.44 (20.07)  (19.63)

The total column of this statement represents the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The supplementary revenue and capital
return columns are both prepared under guidance published by the AIC. All items in the above statement derive from continuing
operations. No operations were acquired or discontinued during the year.

The notes on pages 43 to 58 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 30 June 2017

Share Capital
Share premium  Special Capital redemption Revenue
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve Total

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
For the year ended 30 June 2017
1 July 2016 6,986 31,737 38,932 57,574 2,264 868 138,361
Net return and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - 39,731 - 915 40,646
Dividends paid 6 - - - - - (545) (545)
Share buy-backs - - (2,118) - - - (2,118)
30 June 2017 6,986 31,737 36,814 97,305 2,264 1,238 176,344
For the year ended 30 June 2016
1 July 2015 6,258 16,330 38,932 71,358 2,264 1,100 136,242
Net return and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - (13,784) - 302 (13,482)
Dividends paid 6 - - - - - (534) (534)
Share issues 728 15,769 - - - - 16,497
Shares issue costs - (362) - - - - (362)
30 June 2016 6,986 31,737 38,932 57,574 2,264 868 138,361

The notes on pages 43 to 58 form part of these financial statements.
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as at 30 June 2017

30 June 30 June

2017 2016
Note £°000 £'000
Non-current assets
Investments held at fair value through profit or loss 8 162,931 125,157
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 10 354 356
Cash and cash equivalents 14 15,891 13,303
16,245 13,659
Total assets 179,176 138,816
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 (2,832) (455)
Total assets less current liabilities 176,344 138,361
Net assets 176,344 138,361
Capital and reserves:
Share capital 12 6,986 6,986
Share premium account 13 31,737 31,737
Special reserve 13 36,814 38,932
Capital reserve 13 97,305 57,574
Capital redemption reserve 13 2,264 2,264
Revenue reserve 13 1,238 868
Total shareholders’ equity 176,344 138,361
pence pence
Net asset value per share 15 256.00 198.06
number number
Ordinary shares in issue 12 68,883,472 69,858,891

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of Strategic Equity Capital plc on 14 September 2017.
They were signed on its behalf by

Richard Hills

Chairman

14 September 2017
Company Number: 05448627

The notes on pages 43 to 58 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Year ended Year ended
30 June 30 June
2017 2016
Note £°000 £'000

Operating activities
Net return before taxation 40,721 (13,434)
Adjustment for (gains)/losses on investments (41,587) 13,784
Irrecoverable witholding tax (75) (48)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (941) 302
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (76) 37
Increase/(decrease) in payables 2,262 (2,324)
Purchases of portfolio investments (42,186) (43,867)
Sales of portfolio investments 46,197 26,243
Net cash flow from operating activities 5,256 (19,609)

Financing activities
Equity dividend paid 6 (545) (534)
Shares bought back in the year (2,116) -
Shares issued - 16,497
Share issue expenses 13 - (362)
Net cash flow from financing activities (2,661) 15,601
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for year 2,595 (4,008)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 13,303 17,312
Revaluation of foreign currency balances 14 (7) (1)
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 14 15,891 13,303

The notes on pages 43 to 58 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

1.1

1.2

1.3

Corporate information

Strategic Equity Capital plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom and registered
in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 whose shares are publicly traded. The Company is an investment
company as defined by Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.

The Company carries on business as an investment trust within the meaning of Sections 1158/1159 of the UK Corporation
Tax Act 2010.

The financial statements of Strategic Equity Capital plc for the year ended 30 June 2017 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 14 September 2017.

Basis of preparation and statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with IFRS issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (as adopted by the EU), interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee, and applicable requirements of United Kingdom company law, and reflect the following
policies which have been adopted and applied consistently. Where presentational guidance set out in the Statement of
Recommended Practice (“SORP”) for investment trusts issued by the AIC is applied to the extent it is consistent with the
requirements of IFRS, the Directors have sought to prepare financial statements on a basis compliant with the
recommendations of the SORP.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis, on the assumption the continuation
vote is passed by Shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Convention
The financial statements are presented in Sterling, being the currency of the Primary Economic Environment in which the
Company operates, rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated to the nearest one pound.

Segmental reporting
The Directors are of the opinion that the Company is engaged in a single segment of business, being investment business.

Accounting policies

Investments

All investments held by the Company are classified as “fair value through profit or loss”. As the Company’s business is
investing in financial assets with a view to profiting from their total return in the form of interest, dividends or increase in fair
value, listed equities, unquoted equities and fixed income securities are designated as fair value through profit or loss on
initial recognition. The Company manages and evaluates the performance of these investments on a fair value basis in
accordance with its investment strategy. Investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration.

After initial recognition, investments are measured at fair value, with movements in fair value of investments and impairment
of investments recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and allocated to the capital column.

For investments actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is generally determined by reference to Stock
Exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the Balance sheet date, without adjustment for transaction
costs necessary to realise the asset.

In respect of unquoted instruments, or where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established by
using recognised valuation methodologies, in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEV”)
Valuation Guidelines. New investments are initially carried at cost, for a limited period, being the price of the most recent
investment in the investee company. This is in accordance with IPEV Guidelines as the cost of recent investments will
generally provide a good indication of fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Trade date accounting

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the “trade date” i.e. the day that the Company
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases, or sales, are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of the asset within a time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Income

Dividends receivable on quoted equity shares are taken into account on the ex-dividend date. Where no ex-dividend date
is quoted, they are brought into account when the Company’s right to receive payment is established. Other investment
income and interest receivable are included in the financial statements on an accruals basis. Dividends receivable from UK
and overseas registered companies are accounted for on a gross basis. Where withholding tax is paid, the amount will be
recognised in the revenue column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income as part of the tax expense and deemed as
irrecoverable. For dividends which are of a capital nature, they are recognised in the capital column of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Income on fixed income securities is recognised on a time apportionment basis, using the
effective interest rate method, from the date of purchase.

Expenses

All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. The Company’s investment management and administration fees,
finance costs (calculated using the effective interest rate method) and all other expenses are charged through the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. These expenses are allocated 100% to the revenue column of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. The Investment Manager’s performance fee is allocated 100% to the capital column of the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. In the opinion of the Directors the fee is awarded entirely for the capital performance
of the portfolio.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents which are held to maturity are carried at fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are defined as
cash in hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand are included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of cash flows and Balance sheet.

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the Balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. The tax effect of
different items of expenditure is allocated between the revenue and capital columns of the Statement of Comprehensive
Income on the same basis as the particular item to which it relates, using the Company’s effective rate of tax.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the Balance sheet date between the tax basis of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amount for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are measured
on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

Dividends payable to Shareholders

Dividends to Shareholders are recognised as a deduction from equity in the year in which they have been declared and
approved by the shareholders. The final dividend is proposed by the Board and is not declared until approved by the
Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting following the year end. Dividends are charged to the Statement of changes
in equity.
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1.3

1.4

Accounting policies (continued)
Share capital transactions

Share issues and related accounts
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognised as a deduction from share premium arising
from the transactions.

Share buy-backs for capital reserve
When share capital is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid is recognised as a deduction from special reserve.

Share buy-backs for treasury
Shares which are repurchased are either classified as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from special
reserve or are cancelled.

Foreign currency transactions

The currency of the Primary Economic Environment in which the Company operates is Sterling which is also the
presentational currency. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the rates of
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Investments and other monetary assets and liabilities are converted to Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the
Balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses relating to investments and other monetary assets and liabilities are taken
to the capital column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect items
reported in the Balance sheet and Statement of Comprehensive Income at the date of the financial statements. Although
the estimates are based on best knowledge of current facts, circumstances, and, to some extent, future events and
actions, the Company’s actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates, possibly significantly.

In respect of unquoted instruments, or where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established by
using recognised valuation methodologies, in accordance with IPEV Valuation Guidelines. Fair value is the amount for
which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

New standards and interpretations not applied

IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations which are not effective for the year ended
30 June 2017 and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRS) Effective date*
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018f
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 20187
IFRS 16 Leasing 1 January 2019

* Years beginning on or after.
T Early adoption permitted.

The Directors do not anticipate that the initial adoption of the above standards will have a material impact in the period of
initial application.
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2 Income

Year ended 30 June 2017 Year ended 30 June 2016
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital
return return Total return return Total
£000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £'000 £'000
Income from investments:
UK dividend income 2,582 - 2,582 2,048 - 2,048
Overseas dividend income 373 - 373 258 - 258
2,955 - 2,955 2,306 - 2,306
Liquidity interest 36 - 36 74 - 74
2,991 - 2,991 2,380 - 2,380
Other income:
Underwriting commission - - - 21 - 21
2,991 - 2,991 2,401 - 2,401
Total income comprises:
Dividends 2,955 - 2,955 2,306 - 2,306
Interest 36 - 36 74 - 74
Underwriting commission - - - 21 - 21
2,991 - 2,991 2,401 - 2,401
Income from investments:
Listed UK 2,582 - 2,582 2,048 - 2,048
Listed overseas 373 - 373 258 - 258
Liquidity interest 36 - 36 74 - 74
2,991 - 2,991 2,380 - 2,380
3 Investment Manager’s fee
Year ended 30 June 2017 Year ended 30 June 2016
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital
return return Total return return Total
£°000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £’000 £’000
Management fee 1,418 - 1,418 1,419 - 1,419
Performance fee - 1,856 1,856 - - -
1,418 1,856 3,274 1,419 - 1,419

A basic management fee is payable to the Investment Manager at the lower of (i) the annual rate of 1.0% of the NAV of the
Company or (ii) 1.0% per annum of the market capitalisation of the Company. The basic management fee accrues daily and
is payable quarterly in arrears. The Investment Manager is also entitled to a performance fee, details of which are given in
the Strategic Report on page 16.
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Other expenses
Year ended 30 June 2017

Year ended 30 June 2016

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

return return Total return return Total

£°000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £’000 £'000

Secretarial services 120 - 120 98 - 98
Current Auditors’ remuneration for:

Audit services* 20 - 20 20 - 20

Previous Auditors’ services* - - - 2 - 2

Directors’ remuneration 135 - 135 129 - 129

Other expenses 308 - 308 383 - 383

583 - 583 632 - 632

All expenses include VAT where applicable, apart from audit services which is shown net.

* No non-audit fees were incurred during the year.

Taxation
Year ended 30 June 2017 Year ended 30 June 2016
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital
return return Total return return Total
£°000 £°000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Corporation tax at 19.75% (2016: 20%) - - - - - -
Overseas dividend withholding tax* 75 - 75 48 - 48
75 - 75 48 - 48

The Company is subject to corporation tax at 19.75%. As at 30 June 2017 the total current taxation charge in the Company’s
revenue account is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are explained below:

* IFG Group withholding tax paid £74,603 (2016: £48,094).
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5 Taxation (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2017 Year ended 30 June 2016
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

return return Total return return Total

£000 £°000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Net return on ordinary activities
before taxation 990 39,731 40,721 350 (13,784) (13,434)
Theoretical tax at UK corporation tax 195 7,847 8,042 70 (2,757) (2,687)
rate of 19.75% (2016: 20%)
Effects of:
— UK dividends that are not taxable (510) - (510) (410) - (410)
— Overseas dividends that are not taxable (75) - (75) (52) - (52)
— Unrelieved expenses 390 - 390 392 - 392
— Overseas dividend withholding tax 75 - 75 48 - 48
— Non-taxable investment gains - (7,847) (7,847) - 2,757 2,757

75 - 75 48 - 48

Factors that may affect future tax charges

At 30 June 2017, the Company had no unprovided deferred tax liabilities (2016: £nil). At that date, based on current
estimates and including the accumulation of net allowable losses, the Company had unrelieved losses of £18,100,000
(2016: £16,135,000) that are available to offset future taxable revenue. A deferred tax asset of £3,620,000 (2016: £3,227,000)
has not been recognised because the Company is not expected to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods in
excess of the available deductible expenses and accordingly, the Company is unlikely to be able to reduce future tax
liabilities through the use of existing surplus losses.

Deferred tax is not provided on capital gains and losses arising on the revaluation or disposal of investments because the
Company meets (and intends to continue for the foreseeable future to meet) the conditions for approval as an Investment
Trust company.
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Dividends

Under the requirements of Sections 1158/1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 no more than 15% of total income may be
retained by the Company. These requirements are considered on the basis of dividends declared in respect of the financial

year as shown below.

30 June 30 June
2017 2016
£°000 £°000
Final dividend proposed of 0.78p (2016: 0.78p) per share (533) (545)
Dividends have been solely paid out of Revenue.
The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company in the financial year:
30 June 30 June
2017 2016
£°000 £°000
Final dividend: 0.78p per share (2016: 0.78p) 545 534

Return per Ordinary share
Year ended 30 June 2017

Year ended 30 June 2016

Weighted Weighted
average average
Net number of Per Net  number of Per
return Ordinary share return Ordinary share
£°000 shares pence £’000 shares pence
Total
Return per share 40,646 69,731,772 58.29 (13,482) 68,687,443 (19.63)
Revenue
Return per share 915 69,731,772 1.31 302 68,687,443 0.44
Capital
Return per share 39,731 69,731,772 56.98 (13,784) 68,687,443 (20.07)
Investments
30 June 30 June
2017 2016
£°000 £'000
Investment portfolio summary
Listed investments at fair value through profit or loss 161,579 123,509
Unquoted investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,352 1,648
162,931 125,157
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Investments (continued)

30 June
2017
Listed Unquoted Total
£'000 £°000 £000
Analysis of investment portfolio movements
Opening book cost 99,663 106 99,769
Opening investment holding gains 23,846 1,542 25,388
Opening valuation 123,509 1,648 125,157
Movements in the year:
Purchases at cost 42,299 - 42,299
Sales - proceeds (45,503) (616) (46,119)
—realised gains on sales 23,720 582 24,302
Decrease in unrealised appreciation 17,554 (262) 17,292
Closing valuation 161,579 1,352 162,931
Closing book cost 120,179 72 120,251
Closing investment holding gains 41,400 1,280 42,680
161,579 1,352 162,931

A list of the top 10 portfolio holdings by their aggregate market values is given in the Investment Manager’s report on
page 8. Transaction costs incidental to the acquisitions of investments totalled £215,000 (2016: £225,000) and disposals of

investments totalled £59,000 (2016: £50,000) respectively for the year.

30 June 30 June
2017 2016
£°000 £'000

Analysis of capital gains
Gains on sale of investments 24,302 9,734
Foreign exchange losses on settlement at bank (7) (1)
Movement in investment holding gains 17,292 (23,517)
41,587 (13,784)

The Company is required to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the subjectivity of the
inputs used in measuring the fair value of each asset. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified within level 1 and include
active listed equities. The Company does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments.
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Investments (continued)

The definition of level 1 inputs refers to ‘active markets’, which is a market in which transactions take place with sufficient
frequency and volume for pricing information to be provided on an ongoing basis. Due to the liquidity levels of the
markets in which the Company trades, whether transactions take place with sufficient frequency and volume is a matter
of judgement, and depends on the specific facts and circumstances. The Manager has analysed trading volumes and
frequency of the Company’s portfolio and has determined these investments as level 1 of the hierarchy.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted market
prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within level 2. As level
2 investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations
may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

Level 3 instruments include private equity, as observable prices are not available for these securities the Company has
used valuation techniques to derive the fair value. In respect of unquoted instruments, or where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, fair value is established by using recognised valuation methodologies, in accordance with IPEV
Valuation Guidelines.

Level 3 investments consist of an investment in a private equity fund of funds managed by 3i (‘the Fund’) and is valued at
the Company’s attributable proportion of the reported Fund Net Asset Value in accordance with the IPEV Valuation
Guidelines. The Net Asset Value of the Fund is derived from the Fair Value of the underlying funds based on the most
recent financial statements of the underlying funds adjusted for any subsequent cash movements to and from the
underlying funds.

The underlying funds primarily invest in private companies which are recorded at cost or Fair Value derived from private
equity valuation models and techniques. The main inputs into the valuation models of the underlying funds include industry
performance, company performance, quality of management, the price of the most recent financing round or prospects for
the next financing round, exit opportunities which are available, liquidity preference and net present value analysis.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised is determined on the basis of the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value of the investment.

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities (by class)
measured at fair value at 30 June 2017.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£°000 £000 £000 £000
30 June 2017
Equity investments and limited partnership interests 161,579 - 1,352 162,931
Liquidity funds - 15,443 - 15,443
Total 161,579 15,443 1,352 178,374
30 June 2016
Equity investments and limited partnership interests 123,509 - 1,648 125,157
Liquidity funds - 12,091 - 12,091
Total 123,509 12,091 1,648 137,248

There were no transfers between levels for the year ended 30 June 2017 (2016: none).
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Investments
The following table presents the movement in level 3 instruments for the year ended 30 June 2017 by class of financial
instrument.
Total equity
investments
£°000
Opening balance at 1 July 2016 1,648
Proceeds from disposals during the year (616)
Gains on disposals during the year included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 582
Total losses for the year included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (262)
Closing balance 1,352
Significant interests
The Company had holdings of 3% or more in the following companies:
30 June 2017
Name of investment Class of Share Percentage held
Tribal Group Ordinary 9.6
Servelec Group Ordinary 9.0
Goals Soccer Centre Ordinary 8.9
IFG Group Ordinary 8.1
Wilmington Group Ordinary 5.4
Medica Group Ordinary 4.5
Oxford Metrics Ordinary 3.7
Trade and other receivables
30 June 30 June
2017 2016
£°000 £'000
UK dividends receivable 102 28
Amount due from brokers 224 302
Accrued income - 1
Other receivables and prepayments 28 25
354 356
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Trade and other payables
30 June 30 June

2017 2016
£°000 £'000
Amounts due to brokers for settlement of trades 113 -
Investment Manager’s performance fee 1,856 -
Other payables and accruals 863 455
2,832 455
Nominal share capital
Number £°000
Allotted, called up and fully paid Ordinary shares of 10p each:
At 1 July 2016 69,858,891 6,986
Share buy-backs to be held in Treasury (975,419) (98)
Ordinary shares in issue per Balance Sheet 68,883,472 6,388
Shares held in Treasury 975,419 98
Ordinary shares in circulation at 30 June 2017 69,858,891 6,986
At 30 June 2017, there were 975,419 shares held at Treasury (30 June 2016: none).
Reserves
Capital Capital
reserve reserve
Share arising on  arising on Capital
premium Special investments investments redemption Revenue
account reserve sold held reserve reserve
For the year ended 30 June 2017 £°000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £°000
Opening balance 31,737 38,932 32,186 25,388 2,264 868
Net gain on realisation of investments - - 24,302 - - -
Increase in unrealised appreciation - - - 17,292 - -
Foreign exchange differences - - (7) - - -
Share buy-backs - (2,118) - - - -
Investment Manager’s performance fee - - (1,856) - - -
Net return for the year - - - - - 915
Dividends paid - - - - - (545)
As at 30 June 2017 31,737 36,814 54,625 42,680 2,264 1,238

53



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

13

14

54

Reserves
Capital Capital
reserve reserve
Share arising on arising on Capital
premium Special investments investments redemption Revenue
account reserve sold held reserve reserve
For the year ended 30 June 2016 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Opening balance 16,330 38,932 22,453 48,905 2,264 1,100
Net gain on realisation of investments - - 9,733 - - -
Decrease in unrealised appreciation - - - (23,517) - -
Share issues 15,769 - - - - -
Share issue costs (862) - - - - -
Net return for the year - - - - - 302
Dividends paid - - - - - (534)
As at 30 June 2016 31,737 38,932 32,186 25,388 2,264 868
Reconciliation of net cash flow to net funds
30 June 30 June
2017 2016
£°000 £'000
Opening net funds 13,303 17,312
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in year 2,595 (4,008)
Non cash movement:
— Foreign exchange losses on bank (7) (1)
Closing net funds 15,891 13,303
At At
30 June Net 30 June
2016 cash flow 2017
£°000 £’000 £°000
Cash at bank 1,212 (764) 448
Liquidity funds 12,091 3,352 15,443
13,303 2,588 15,891
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Net asset value per Ordinary share
The net asset value per Ordinary share is based on net assets of £176,344,000 (2016: £138,361,000) and on 68,883,472
(2016: 69,858,891) Ordinary shares, being the number of shares in issue at the year end.

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities
The Company has a commitment to invest €1,560,000 (2016: €1,560,000) in Vintage 1, details of which are given in the
Investment Management Report on page 10.

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities

The Company’s financial instruments comprise securities, cash balances (including amounts held in liquidity funds) and
debtors and creditors that arise from its operations, for example, in respect of sales and purchases awaiting settlement and
debtors for accrued income.

The Company has little exposure to credit and cash flow risk. Credit risk is due to uncertainty in a counterparty’s ability to
meet its obligations. The Company has no exposure to debt purchases and ensures that cash at bank is held only with
reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings. All the assets of the Company which are traded on listed exchanges
are held by The Northern Trust Company, the Company’s Custodian. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Custodian may cause
the Company’s rights with respect to securities held by the Custodian to be delayed or limited. The Board reviews the
Custodian’s annual controls report and the Investment Manager’s management of the relationship with the Custodian.

The Company invests in markets that operate DVP (Delivery versus Payment) settlement. The process of DVP mitigates the
risk of losing the principal of a trade during the settlement process. The Manager continuously monitors dealing activity to
ensure best execution, a process that involves measuring various indicators including the quality of trade settlement and
incidence of failed trades. Counterparty lists are maintained and adjusted accordingly.

Due to timings of investment and distributions, at any one time the Company may hold significant amounts of surplus cash.
Any funds in excess of those required to meet daily operational requirements are invested in Institutional Liquidity Funds.
These are highly liquid assets that are redeemable on less than 24 hours notice. The Company only invests in funds that
have an AAA rating and the funds’ performance is monitored by the Investment Manager. As at 30 June 2017 the Company
had £15,443,000 (2016: £12,091,000) invested in such funds. The maximum exposure to credit risk is £16,245,000

(2016: £13,659,000). There are no assets past due or impaired (2016: none).

The Company finances its operations through its issued capital and existing reserves.

The principal risks the Company faces in its investment portfolio management activities are:

market price risk, i.e. the movements in value of investment holdings caused by factors other than interest rate movement;

interest rate risk;

liquidity risk; and
— foreign currency risk.
The Investment Manager’s policies for managing these risks are summarised below and have been applied throughout the year:

Policy
(i) Market price risk
The Company’s investment portfolio is exposed to market price fluctuations which are monitored by the Investment Manager.

Adherence to the investment objectives and the limits on investment set by the Company mitigates the risk of excessive
exposure to any one particular type of security or issuer.
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Analysis of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

If the investment portfolio valuation fell by 20% from the 30 June 2017 valuation (2016: 20%), with all other variables held
constant, there would have been a reduction of £32,586,000 (2016: £25,031,000) in the return after taxation and equity.
An increase of 20% in the investment portfolio valuation would have had an equal and opposite effect on the return after
taxation and equity. The calculations are based on the fair value of investments at 30 June 2017 and these may not be
representative of the year as a whole.

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk exposure
The Company’s bank accounts earn interest at a variable rate which is subject to fluctuations in interest rates.

The Company holds cash in liquidity funds. Income from these funds is dependent on the performance of the funds, which
is subject to fluctuations in interest rates (along with other factors).

If interest rates had reduced by 0.5% from those obtained at 30 June 2017 (2016: 0.5%), it would have the effect, with
all other variables held constant, of reducing the net return after taxation and equity by £79,000 (2016: £67,000). If there
had been an increase in interest rates of 0.5% there would have been an equal and opposite effect in the net return after
taxation and equity. The calculations are based on the cash balances at 30 June 2017 and are not representative of the
year as a whole.

Non-interest rate risk exposure
The remainder of the Company’s portfolio and current assets and liabilities are not subject directly to interest rate risk
(2016: same).

Details of the interest rate risk profile of the Company are shown in the following tables.

The interest rate risk profile of the Company’s financial assets at 30 June 2017 was:

Cash flow
No interest interest
rate risk rate risk
financial financial
Total assets assets
£°000 £°000 £°000

Sterling
Listed investments 161,579 161,579 -
Liquidity funds 15,443 - 15,443
Cash 448 - 448
Receivables* 326 326 -
Closing net funds 177,796 161,905 15,891

Euros

Unquoted investments 1,352 1,352 -
1,352 1,352 -
Total 179,148 163,257 15,891

* Receivables exclude prepayments which under IAS 32 are not classed as financial assets.
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Analysis of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The interest rate risk profile of the Company’s financial assets at 30 June 2016 was:

Cash flow
No interest interest
rate risk rate risk
financial financial
Total assets assets
£’000 £’000 £’000
Sterling
Listed investments 123,509 123,509 -
Liquidity funds 12,091 - 12,091
Cash 1,212 - 1,212
Receivables* 331 331 -
Closing net funds 137,143 123,840 13,303
Euros
Unquoted investments 1,648 1,648 -
1,648 1,648 -
Total 138,791 125,488 13,303
* Receivables exclude prepayments which under IAS 32 are not classed as financial assets.
The interest rate risk profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 30 June 2017 was:

No interest
rate risk
financial

Total assets
£°000 £°000
Sterling
Creditors 2,832 2,832

All amounts were due in three months or less for a consideration equal to the carrying value of the creditors shown above.

The interest rate risk profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 30 June 2016 was:

No interest
rate risk
financial

Total assets
£’000 £’000
Sterling
Creditors 455 455

All amounts were due in three months or less for a consideration equal to the carrying value of the creditors shown above.
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Analysis of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk

The Investment Manager may invest on behalf of the Company in securities which are not readily tradable, which can lead
to volatile share price movements. It may be difficult for the Company to sell such investments. Although the Company’s
AIM quoted investments and unquoted investments are less liquid than securities listed on the London Stock Exchange,
the Board seeks to ensure that an appropriate proportion of the Company’s investment portfolio is invested in cash and
readily realisable investments, which are sufficient to meet any funding requirements that may arise.

(iv) Foreign currency risk
The Company invests in a private equity fund (Vintage 1) denominated in Euros and a dual listed Irish security (IFG Group),
these are the only non-Sterling assets. The Company is, therefore, subject to foreign currency risk.

During the year the Sterling/Euro exchange rate fluctuated 8.86% between a low of 1.1054 on 13 October 2016 and a high
of 1.2033 on 30 June 2016, before closing at 1.1396 on 30 June 2017 (2016: 1.2033).

If the Sterling/Euro exchange rate had weakened by 15% from that obtained at 30 June 2017 (2016: 15%), it would have
the effect, with all other variables held constant, of increasing net profit and equity Shareholders’ funds by £1,323,000
(2016: £1,481,000). An strengthening of 15% (2016: 15%) would have had an equal but opposite effect on the net profit
and equity Shareholders’ funds. The calculations are based on the value of the investment in Vintage 1 and IFG Group as at
30 June 2017 and this may not be representative of the year as a whole. The balance exposed to foreign currency risk is
£7,495,000 (2016: £8,390,000).

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying value of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company is equivalent to their fair value (2016: same).

Managing Capital

Capital structure

The Company is funded through Shareholders’ equity and cash reserves. The Company’s Articles of Association permit
the Board to borrow up to 25% of the Company’s net asset value at the time of borrowing. Capital is managed so as

to maximise the return to Shareholders while maintaining an appropriate capital base to allow the Company to operate
effectively in the marketplace and to sustain future development of the business. The Company pays such dividends as are
required to maintain its investment trust status, and may also from time to time return capital to Shareholders through the
purchase of its own shares at a discount to net asset value.

Capital requirement

The Company operates so as to qualify as a UK investment trust for UK tax purposes. Although no longer a requirement for
obtaining and retaining investment trust status, it remains the Company’s investment policy that the maximum investment
in any single investee company will be no more than 15% of the Company’s investments at the time of investment.

The Company’s capital requirement is reviewed regularly by the Board.

Related party transactions and transactions with the Investment Manager

The Investment Manager may draw upon advice from the IAP of which Sir Clive Thompson, a Director of the Company, is
a member. The IAP was established to provide advice to the Investment Manager in relation to the strategy, operations and
management of potential investee companies.

The amounts payable to the Investment Manager are disclosed in Note 3 on page 46. The amount due to the Investment
Manager for management fees at 30 June 2017 was £728,000 (2016: £350,000). The amount due to the Investment
Manager for performance fees at 30 June 2017 was £1,856,000 (2016: £Nil).

Fees paid to Directors are disclosed in the Directors Remuneration Report on page 31. Full details of Directors’ interests
are set out on page 32.
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Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”) Disclosures (Unaudited)
The Company’s AIFM is GVQIM.

In accordance with the AIFMD, information in relation to the Company’s leverage and the remuneration of the Company’s AIFM is
required to be made available to investors. In accordance with the Directive, the AIFM’s remuneration policy and remuneration
disclosures in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 are available from GVQIM on request.

The Company’s maximum and actual leverage levels at 30 June 2017 are shown below:

Gross Commitment
Leverage Exposure Method Method
Maximum limit 125% 125%
Actual 100% 100%

There have been no changes to the Company'’s investor disclosure document in the year to 30 June 2017.

The investor disclosure document and all additional periodic disclosures required in accordance with the requirements of the FCA
Rules implementing the AIFMD in the UK are made available on the Company’s website (www.strategicequitycapital.com).
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STRATEGIC EQUITY CAPITAL

Notice of Annual General Meeting

This document is important and requires your immediate attention.

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of the proposals referred to in this document or as to the action you should take, you
should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent professional adviser authorised under
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) if you are resident in the United Kingdom or, if not, from another
appropriately authorised independent professional adviser, without delay. If you have sold or transferred all of your ordinary shares
in the capital of the Company and, as a result, no longer hold any ordinary shares in the Company, please send this document and
the accompanying form of proxy as soon as possible to the purchaser or transferee, or to the person through whom the sale or
transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee. If you have sold only part of your holding of ordinary shares
in the Company, you should retain the documents and consult the person through whom the sale was effected.

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Strategic Equity Capital plc will be held at the offices of Canaccord
Genuity Limited, 88 Wood Street, London EC2V 7QR on 8 November 2017 at 12 noon for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017, together with the Strategic Report
and Reports of the Directors and Auditor thereon.

2. To declare a final dividend of 0.78p per Ordinary share.

To receive and approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
To re-elect Richard Hills as a Director.

To re-elect Josephine Dixon as a Director.

To re-elect Sir Clive Thompson as a Director.

7. To re-elect Richard Locke as a Director.

8. To re-elect William Barlow as a Director.

9. To appoint KPMG LLP as Auditor to the Company, to hold office from the conclusion of this Meeting until the next General
Meeting at which financial statements are laid.

10. To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of KPMG LLP.

Special Business
Ordinary Resolutions
11. THAT the Company continue as an investment trust until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

12. THAT in addition to any existing authority, the Board be and it is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise
all powers of the Company to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 560 of the Companies Act 2006) up to
an aggregate nominal amount of £683,874 (equivalent to 6,838,740 shares and 10% of the issued share capital as at
13 September 2017), which authority shall expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company after the passing of this resolution and 8 February 2019 (unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in
General Meeting) save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Board may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or
agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.
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Special Resolutions

13.

14.
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THAT in addition to any existing authority, the Board be and it is hereby empowered, pursuant to Section 570 of the
Companies Act 2006, to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 560 of the said Act) for cash pursuant to the
authority conferred by resolution 12 above and/or where such allotment constitutes an allotment of equity securities by virtue
of Section 573 of the said Act, as if Section 561 of the said Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power
shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities or sale of shares out of treasury up to an aggregate nominal value of
£683,874 (equivalent to 6,838,740 shares and 10% of the issued share capital as at 13 September 2017), and shall expire on
the earlier of the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution and

9 February 2018, save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require
equity securities to be allotted or sold after such expiry and the Board may allot or sell equity securities in pursuance of such
an offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.

THAT, in substitution for the Company’s existing authority, the Company be and is hereby authorised in accordance with
Section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) to make market purchases (within the meaning of Section 693 of the Act)
of its Ordinary shares of 10p each (“Ordinary Shares”) provided that:

() the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased shall not exceed 10,251,272 Ordinary
Shares (being 14.99% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at 13 September 2017 (being the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this notice) excluding any Ordinary Shares held in treasury);

(i) the minimum price which may be paid for an Ordinary Share shall be not less than the nominal amount of such Ordinary
Share at the time of purchase; and

(iliy the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an Ordinary Share shall be the higher of (a) 5% above
the average of the middle market prices of the Ordinary Shares according to the Daily Official List of the London Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately before the date on which the Company agrees to buy the Ordinary
Shares, and (b) that stipulated by the regulatory technical standards adopted by the EU pursuant to the Market Abuse
Regulation from time to time.

This authority shall continue for the period ending on the earlier of: (i) the date on which the maximum number of Ordinary
Shares authorised to be purchased pursuant to this resolution 14 have been purchased by the Company; (i) the date of the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution; and (iii) 8 May 2019 provided that if the
Company has agreed, before this authority expires, to purchase Ordinary Shares where the purchase will or may be executed
after this authority expires (whether wholly or in part), the Company may complete such purchase as if this authority has not
expired.

Registered Office: By Order of the Board
c/o Stephenson Harwood LLP PATAC Limited
1 Finsbury Circus Company Secretary
London EC2M 7SH 14 September 2017
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Notes:

As a shareholder, you have the right to attend, speak and vote at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting or at any adjournment(s) thereof. In
order to exercise all or any of these rights, you should read the following explanatory notes to the business of the Annual General Meeting.

1.

The Company specifies that only those Shareholders registered on the register of members of the Company as at close of business on

6 November 2017 (or in the event that the meeting is adjourned, only those Shareholders registered on the register of members of the
Company as at 6.00 pm on the day which is 48 hours prior to the adjourned meeting) shall be entitled to attend in person or by proxy and vote
at the Annual General Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the register of
members after that time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint one or more persons as his/her proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her
behalf at the meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. If multiple proxies are appointed they must not be appointed in respect
of the same shares. To be effective, the enclosed form of proxy, together with any power of attorney or other authority under which it is signed
or a certified copy thereof, should be lodged at the office of the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions,
Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZY not later than 48 hours before the time of the meeting.

The appointment of a proxy will not prevent a member from attending the meeting and voting in person if he/she so wishes. A member present
in person or by proxy shall have one vote on a show of hands and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote
for every share of which he/she is the holder.

The termination of the authority of a person to act as proxy must be notified to the Company in writing. In the case of joint holders of a share,
the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the vote or votes of the other
joint holder or holders, and seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names of the holders stand in the register.

Any question relevant to the business of the Annual General Meeting may be asked at the meeting by anyone permitted to speak at the
meeting. You may alternatively submit your question in advance by letter addressed to the Company Secretary at the registered office.

A person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights (a
“Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she was nominated, have a right to be
appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual General Meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy
appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may, under any such agreement, have a right to give instructions to the shareholder
as to the exercise of voting rights.

The statements of the rights of members in relation to the appointment of proxies in Note 2 above do not apply to a Nominated Person. The
rights described in this Note can only be exercised by registered members of the Company.

As at 13 September 2017 (being the last business day prior to the publication of this notice) the Company’s issued share capital amounted to
68,387,406 Ordinary shares carrying one vote each and the total number of voting rights was 68,387,406.

A person authorised by a corporation is entitled to exercise (on behalf of the corporation) the same powers as the corporation could exercise if
it were an individual member of the Company. On a vote on a resolution on a show of hands, each authorised person has the same voting
rights as the corporation would be entitled to. On a vote on a resolution on a poll, if more than one authorised person purports to exercise a
power in respect of the same shares:

a) if they purport to exercise the power in the same way as each other, the power is treated as exercised in that way;
b) if they do not purport to exercise the power in the same way as each other, the power is treated as not exercised.

Shareholders should note that it is possible that, pursuant to requests made by Shareholders of the Company under Section 527 of the
Companies Act 2006, the Company may be required to publish on a website a statement setting out any matter relating to:

() the audit of the Company’s accounts (including the Auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the Annual
General Meeting; or

(i) any circumstances connected with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at which annual accounts
and reports were laid in accordance with Section 437 of the Companies Act 2006.

The Company may not require the Shareholders requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses in complying with Sections 527
or 528 of the Companies Act 2006. Where the Company is required to place a statement on a website under Section 527 of the Companies
Act 20086, it must forward the statement to the Company’s Auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement available on the
website. The business which may be dealt with at the Annual General Meeting includes any statement that the Company has been required
under Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 to publish on a website.
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In accordance with Section 319A of the Companies Act 2006, the Company must cause any question relating to the business being dealt with
at the meeting put by a member attending the meeting to be answered. No such answer need be given if:

a) to do so would:
(i) interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting, or
(i) involve the disclosure of confidential information;
b) the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question; or
c) itis undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the question be answered.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for this
meeting by following the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and
those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s),
who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy
Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear’s specifications and must contain the information required for such
instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, in order to be valid, must be transmitted so as to be received by the
Company’s agent ID 3RA50 by the latest time for receipt of proxy appointments specified in Note 2 above.

For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST
Applications Host) from which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST.
After this time, any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other
means.

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear does not make available
special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of
CREST Proxy Instructions.

It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member
or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be
necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members
and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual
concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5) (a) of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001.

Members satisfying the thresholds in section 338 of the Companies Act 2006 may require the Company to give, to members of the Company
entitled to receive notice of the Annual General Meeting, notice of a resolution which those members intend to move (and which may properly
be moved) at the Annual General Meeting. A resolution may properly be moved at the Annual General Meeting unless (i) it would, if passed, be
ineffective (whether by reason of any inconsistency with any enactment or the Company’s constitution or otherwise); (ii) it is defamatory of any
person; or (jii) it is frivolous or vexatious. A request made pursuant to this right may be in hard copy or electronic form, must identify the
resolution of which notice is to be given, must be authenticated by the person(s) making it and must be received by the Company not later
than six weeks before the date of the Annual General Meeting.

Members satisfying the thresholds in section 338A of the Companies Act 2006 may request the Company to include in the business to be
dealt with at the Annual General Meeting any matter (other than a proposed resolution) which may properly be included in the business at the
Annual General Meeting. A matter may properly be included in the business at the Annual General Meeting unless (i) it is defamatory of any
person or (ii) it is frivolous or vexatious. A request made pursuant to this right may be in hard copy or electronic form, must identify grounds for
the request, must be authenticated by the person(s) making it and must be received by the Company not later than six weeks before the date
of the Annual General Meeting.

The Annual Report incorporating this Notice of Annual General Meeting and, if applicable, any members’ statements, members’ resolutions
or members’ matters of business received by the Company after the dates of this Notice will be available on the Company’s website,
www.strategicequitycapital.com

None of the Directors has a contract of service with the Company. A copy of the letters of appointment of the Directors will be available for
inspection at the registered office of the Company during usual business hours on any weekday (except weekends and public holidays) until
the date of the meeting and at the place of the meeting for a period of fifteen minutes prior to and during the meeting.
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